Linking Mine Action



and Development



States Affected By



Mines | ERW



Guidelines for Policy and Programme Development

Geneva International Centre for Humanitarian Demining

Centre International de Déminage Humanitaire | Genève

7bis, av. de la Paix | P.O. Box 1300 | 1211 Geneva 1 | Switzerland t. + 41 (0)22 906 16 60 | f. + 41 (0)22 906 16 90 info@gichd.org | www.gichd.org





LINKING MINE ACTION AND DEVELOPMENT

GUIDELINES FOR POLICY AND PROGRAMME DEVELOPMENT: STATES AFFECTED BY MINES | ERW

NOVEMBER 2009



SUMMARY OF GUIDELINES

FOR STATES AFFECTED BY MINES | ERW

FOR NATIONAL GOVERNMENTS

- 1. Demonstrate national ownership of the mine/<u>ERW</u> contamination problem at the highest level of government. Develop sustainable national capacities to undertake all elements of <u>mine action</u> over the medium and long-term.
- Ensure the national mine action programme responds to the humanitarian and <u>development</u> needs of all citizens affected by mine/ERW contamination, particularly survivors of landmine/ERW accidents.
- Reflect mine action in national and sector development plans, programmes and budgets.
- Meet international legal obligations relating to weapons contamination.

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

- **5.** Demonstrate national ownership of the mine/ERW contamination problem. Develop sustainable national capacities to undertake all elements of mine action over the medium and long-term.
- 6. Ensure the national mine action programme responds to the humanitarian and development needs of all citizens affected by mine/ERW contamination, particularly survivors of landmine/ERW accidents.
- Work with government officials to reflect mine action in national, provincial and/or sector development plans, programmes and budgets.
- Strengthen information sharing and collaboration among different actors.
- Implement international legal obligations relating to weapons contamination.

SUMMARY OF GUIDELINES

FOR STATES AFFECTED BY MINES | ERW

FOR SUB-NATIONAL GOVERNMENTS

- 10. Demonstrate ownership of the mine/<u>ERW</u> contamination problem. Develop sustainable local capacities to undertake all elements of <u>mine action</u> over the medium and long-term.
- When planning reconstruction or <u>development</u> programmes, do not avoid contaminated areas and communities. There are solutions to explosives contamination.
- Ensure mine action promotes development in affected areas and communities.
- **13.** Strengthen information sharing and collaboration across sectors and among key actors.

FOR CORE BUDGET AND PLANNING UNITS

- **14.** When planning reconstruction or development programmes, do not avoid contaminated areas and communities. There are solutions to explosives contamination.
- 15. Allocate sufficient resources to the national mine action programme over its lifespan, paying special attention to the reduction of international support.

FOR SECTOR MINISTRIES AND STATUTORY BODIES

- 16. Demonstrate ownership of the mine/ERW contamination problem. Develop sustainable national capacities to undertake all elements of mine action over the medium and long-term. Sector ministries and statutory bodies are in the best position to understand how contamination affects their work programmes.
- 17. When planning reconstruction or development programmes, do not avoid contaminated areas and communities. There are solutions to explosives contamination.
- **18.** Share information and collaborate with mine action authorities.

CONTENTS

SUMMARY OF GUIDELINES FOR STATES AFFECTED BY MINES ERW				
	NG PRINCIPLES Inking mine action and development	8		
LIST OF BOXES, TABLES AND FIGURES				
ACKN	OWLEDGEMENTS	11		
ACROI	NYMS	12		
	VIEW AND BACKGROUND: LINK MINE ACTION AND DEVELOPMENT?	15		
PURPOSE OF THE GUIDELINES				
GUIDELINES		26		
FOR N	ATIONAL GOVERNMENTS	27		
1.	DEMONSTRATE NATIONAL OWNERSHIP OF THE MINE/ERW CONTAMINATION PROBLEM AT THE HIGHEST LEVEL OF GOVERNMENT. DEVELOP SUSTAINABLE NATIONAL CAPACITIES TO UNDERTAKE ALL ELEMENTS OF MINE ACTION OVER THE MEDIUM AND LONG-TERM	27		
2.	ENSURE THE NATIONAL MINE ACTION PROGRAMME RESPONDS TO THE HUMANITARIAN AND DEVELOPMENT NEEDS OF ALL CITIZENS AFFECTED BY MINE/ERW CONTAMINATION, PARTICULARLY SURVIVORS OF LANDMINE/ERW ACCIDENTS	29		
3.	REFLECT MINE ACTION IN NATIONAL AND SECTOR DEVELOPMENT PLANS, PROGRAMMES AND BUDGETS	30		
4.	MEET INTERNATIONAL LEGAL OBLIGATIONS RELATING TO WEAPONS CONTAMINATION	33		

CONTENTS

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES	35
5. DEMONSTRATE NATIONAL OWNERSHIP OF THE MINE/ERW CONTAMINATION PROBLEM. DEVELOP SUSTAINABLE NATIONAL CAPACITIES TO UNDERTAKE ALL ELEMENTS OF MINE ACTION OVER THE MEDIUM AND LONG-TERM	35
6. ENSURE THE NATIONAL MINE ACTION PROGRAMME RESPONDS TO THE HUMANITARIAN AND DEVELOPMENT NEEDS OF ALL CITIZENS AFFECTED BY MINE/ERW CONTAMINATION, PARTICULARLY SURVIVORS OF LANDMINE/ERW ACCIDENTS	39
 WORK WITH GOVERNMENT OFFICIALS TO ENSURE MINE ACTION I REFLECTED IN NATIONAL, PROVINCIAL AND/OR SECTOR DEVELOPMENT PLANS, PROGRAMMES AND BUDGETS 	IS 44
8. STRENGTHEN INFORMATION SHARING AND COLLABORATION AMO DIFFERENT ACTORS	ONG 47
9. IMPLEMENT INTERNATIONAL LEGAL OBLIGATIONS RELATING TO WEAPONS CONTAMINATION	53
FOR SUB-NATIONAL GOVERNMENTS	57
10. DEMONSTRATE OWNERSHIP OF THE MINE/ERW CONTAMINATION PROBLEM. DEVELOP SUSTAINABLE LOCAL CAPACITIES TO UNDERTAKE ALL ELEMENTS OF MINE ACTION OVER THE MEDIUM AND LONG-TERM	57
11. WHEN PLANNING RECONSTRUCTION OR DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMMES, DO NOT AVOID CONTAMINATED AREAS AND COMMUNITIES. THERE ARE SOLUTIONS TO EXPLOSIVES CONTAMINATION	58
12. ENSURE MINE ACTION PROMOTES DEVELOPMENT IN AFFECTED AREAS AND COMMUNITIES	59
13. STRENGTHEN INFORMATION SHARING AND COLLABORATION ACROSS SECTORS AND AMONG KEY ACTORS	60

CONTENTS

FOR CORE BUDGET AND PLANNING UNITS	61	
14. WHEN PLANNING RECONSTRUCTION OR DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMMES, DO NOT AVOID CONTAMINATED AREAS AND COMMUNITIES. THERE ARE SOLUTIONS TO EXPLOSIVES CONTAMINATION	61	
15. ALLOCATE SUFFICIENT RESOURCES TO THE NATIONAL MINE ACTION PROGRAMME OVER ITS LIFESPAN, PAYING SPECIAL ATTENTION TO THE REDUCTION OF INTERNATIONAL SUPPORT	62	
FOR SECTOR MINISTRIES AND STATUTORY BODIES	67	
16. DEMONSTRATE OWNERSHIP OF THE MINE/ERW CONTAMINATION PROBLEM. DEVELOP SUSTAINABLE NATIONAL CAPACITIES TO UNDERTAKE ALL ELEMENTS OF MINE ACTION OVER THE MEDIUM AND LONG-TERM. SECTOR MINISTRIES AND STATUTORY BODIES ARE IN THE BEST POSITION TO UNDERSTAND HOW CONTAMINATION AFFECTS THEIR WORK PROGRAMMES	67	
17. WHEN PLANNING RECONSTRUCTION OR DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMMES, DO NOT AVOID CONTAMINATED AREAS AND COMMUNITIES. THERE ARE SOLUTIONS TO EXPLOSIVES CONTAMINATION	69	
18. SHARE INFORMATION AND COLLABORATE WITH MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES	70	
WHERE TO ACCESS ADDITIONAL INFORMATION		
GLOSSARY OF TERMS		
SUPPLEMENTARY READING LIST		

GUIDING PRINCIPLES

FOR LINKING MINE ACTION AND DEVELOPMENT

To enhance the developmental effectiveness of mine action

Where mine/ERW contamination impedes reconstruction and <u>development</u> efforts, ensure <u>mine action</u> supports development programmes.

To strengthen information sharing and collaboration across sectors and actors

Effective and efficient delivery of both mine action and development programmes in contaminated areas requires sharing of information, coordination and collaboration between mine action and development actors. This should be at local, national and international levels and across a wide range of sectors.

To align mine action with development priorities

In countries where mines/ERW impede development, mine action should be aligned with development priorities. Mine action should be reflected as a cross-cutting issue in relevant development plans and budgets at national, sub-national and sector levels.

To facilitate and promote national ownership of the mine/ERW contamination problem

National governments are responsible for the national mine action programme and should be in control of it, except in extreme cases where no functioning government exists, or in some countries affected by conflict. A nationally owned mine action programme requires the state to demonstrate political, financial and technical ownership. The state should adopt legislation and national standards governing mine action and mobilise national and, where required, external resources to sustain the programme. It should also develop clear and achievable mine action plans that are aligned with national, sub-national and sector development priorities. It is vital that international organisations and NGOs support the government.

To ensure an inclusive, participatory and gender-sensitive approach to mine action and development

Mine action organisations should consider the needs and priorities of mine-affected communities. This requires an inclusive, participatory and gendered approach to mine action planning and implementation. This approach should be applied from assessing the threat and impact of mine/ERW contamination, to tracking mine/ERW-related deaths and injuries, through the processes of setting mine action priorities, allocating cleared land to beneficiaries and providing development assistance.

8

GUIDING PRINCIPLES

FOR LINKING MINE ACTION AND DEVELOPMENT

To explore collaboration with armed violence prevention and reduction programmes

Mine action organisations should consider the needs and priorities of mine-affected communities. This requires an inclusive, participatory and gendered approach to mine action planning and implementation. This approach should be applied from assessing the threat and impact of mine/ERW contamination, to tracking mine/ERW-related deaths and injuries, through the processes of setting mine action priorities, allocating cleared land to beneficiaries and providing development assistance.

ENDNOTES

ICBL. Landmine Monitor Report 2007. Mine Action: Lessons from the last decade of mine action. http://www.icbl.org/lm/2007/es/mine_action.html#footnote-1066-39-backlink

LIST OF BOXES, TABLES AND FIGURES

BOXES

DUX I	Impact of mines/ERVV on post-connect inventioods in Yemen		
Box 2	Types of mine action	17	
Box 3	How mine action contributes to the achievement of the Millennium Development Goals		
Box 4	Developing a Programme-Based Approach to mine action in Cambodia	36	
Box 5	Measuring the developmental outcomes of mine action	37	
Box 6	Criteria for setting clearance priorities: Cambodia's approach	40	
Box 7	Coordination challenges: Integrated mine action and development programmes in northwest Cambodia	46	
Box 8	Using mine action information to promote development	48	
Box 9	Benefits of a gender-sensitive mine action assessment in Jordan	50	
Box 10	Promoting peace and building confidence: Mine action in Sudan	51	
Box 11	The Nairobi Action Plan: Actions relevant to Linking Mine Action and Development	53	
Box 12	Integrating mine action in the Kukes Regional Development Initiative (KRDI), Albania	57	
Box 13	Consultative Groups and Development Cooperation Forums	62	
Box 14	Demining in support of road and rail reconstruction: Lessons from Mozambique	63	
Box 15	World Bank support for mine action	65	
Box 16	Avoiding the problem: Experiences from Mozambique	68	
TABLES			
Table 1	The Paris Declaration principles and indicators	45	
FIGURES			
Figure 1	The architecture of mine action: Actors, arenas and linkages	19	

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Geneva International Centre for Humanitarian Demining (GICHD) works for the elimination of anti-personnel mines and for the reduction of the humanitarian impact of other landmines and explosive remnants of war. To this end, the GICHD will, in partnership with others, provide operational assistance, create and disseminate knowledge, improve quality management and standards and support instruments of international law, all aimed at increasing the performance and professionalism of mine action.

The GICHD would like to thank the mine action and development practitioners who contributed information and commented on the draft guidelines. These include: Sabrina Aguiari, Mohamed Ahmed, Paddy Blagden, Baballa Braima, Per Breivik, Christian Champigny, Alison Chandler, Kristen Chenier, Zewdu Derebe, Jean Devlin, Charles Downs, Bob Eaton, Hansjorg Eberle, Alioun Mohamed El Hacen, Tamar Gabelnick, Tom Gilhespy, Catherine Gill, Paul Hannon, Jackie Hanson, Bill Howell, Abdirisak Issa Hussein, Olaf Juergensen, Jurkuc Barac Jurkuc, Phanthanousone Khennavong, Archie Law, Rachel Logel, Ahmed Ali Maah, Reuben James McCarthy, Craig McDiarmid, Belinda Mericourt, Anna Miller, Abdul Mukred, Steve Munroe, Marie Nilsson, Oum Sang Onn (Sam), Aneeza Pasha, Dean Piedmont, Barry Pound, Abdul Qadr, Anna Roughley, Mohammad Saad, Khalid Mahmoud Abdin Salih, Chuck Searcy, Habtom Seghid, Pascal Simon, David Spence, Hue Duong Trong, James Turton, Krisna Uk, Eva Veble, Leng Vireak, Rob White, Anne Woodbridge; and the Governments of Australia, Canada, Denmark and Switzerland for their financial support.

These guidelines were written by Sharmala Naidoo, LMAD Project Manager, GICHD, with assistance from Ted Paterson, Head of Evaluation and Policy Research and Ginevra Cucinotta, Programme Officer.

ACIMA	Australia-Cambodia Integrated Mine Action	EC	European Commission
ADB	Asian Development Bank	ECOSORN	Economic and Social Relaunch of Northern Provinces
ADMAC	Agricultural Development in Mine Affected Communities	ERW	Explosive Remnants of War
AIMAD	Austcare Integrated Mine Action and Development	GICHD	Geneva International Centre for Humanitarian Demining
APMBC	Anti Personnel Mine Ban	GoNU	Government of National Unity
AFWIDC	Convention	GoS	Government of Sudan
AusAID	Australian Agency for International Development	HI	Handicap International
AVR	Armed Violence Reduction	ICRC	International Committee of the Red Cross
ccw	Convention on Prohibitions or Restrictions on the Use	IDP	Internally Displaced Person
	of Certain Conventional Weapons which May Be	IMA	Integrated Mine Action
	Deemed to Be Excessively Injurious or To Have Indiscriminate Effects	IMAS	International Mine Action Standard
CG	Consultative Group	IMSMA	Information Management System for Mine Action
CIDA	Canadian International Development Agency	IWDA	International Women's Development Agency
CMAA	Cambodian Mine Action and	JIDU	Joint Integrated Demining Unit
CROMAC	Victim Assistance Authority Croatian Mine Action Centre	KRDI	Kukes Regional Development Initiative
CSGMIMA	Community Strengthening and Gender Mainstreaming	LANGOCA	Laos-Australia NGO Cooperation Agreement
DAC	in Integrated Mine Action	LIS	Landmine Impact Survey
DAG	Development Assistance Committee	LMAD	Linking Mine Action and Development
DFID	Department For International Development (UK)	MAC	Mine Action Centre MAG Mines Advisory Group
DDR	Disarmament, Demobilisation and Reintegration	MDB	Multilateral Development Bank

MDGs	Millennium Development Goals	SAF	Sudan Armed Forces
M & E	Monitoring and Evaluation	SALW	Small Arms and Light Weapons
MRE	Mine Risk Education	SCBL	Swiss Campaign to Ban
MTEF	Medium Term Expenditure Framework	CLIDI	Landmines
MTFF	Medium Term Fiscal Framework	SLIRI	Sudanese Landmines Information and Response Initiative
NCDR	National Committee for Demining and Rehabilitation	SPLM/A	Sudan People's Liberation Movement/Army
NMAA	National Mine Action Authority	SSR	Security Sector Reform
NMAC	National Mine Action Centre	SWG	Sector Working Group
NMA0	National Mine Action Office	SWIm	Sector Wide Implementation plan
NMAS	National Mine Action Standards	SWAp	Sector Wide Approach
NPA	Norwegian People's Aid	TAP	Task Assessment and Planning
NGO	Non-Governmental Organisation	TIA	Task Impact Assessment
ODI	Overseas Development Institute	UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
OECD DAC	Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, Development Assistance Committee	UNMACC SL	UN Mine Action Coordination Centre for South Lebanon
		UNMAS	United Nations Mine Action Service
PBA	Programme Based Approach	UX0	Unexploded Ordnance
PCA	Post Clearance Assessment	VA	Victim Assistance
PCIA	Post Clearance Impact Assessment	YEMAC	Yemen Executive Mine Action Centre
PEAP	Poverty Eradication Action Plan	WB	World Bank
PRSP	Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper		

OVERVIEW AND BACKGROUND

WHY LINK MINE ACTION WITH DEVELOPMENT?



OVERVIEW AND BACKGROUND

WHY LINK MINE ACTION WITH DEVELOPMENT?

<u>Landmines</u> and other <u>explosive remnants of war (ERW)</u> impede postconflict reconstruction and <u>development</u> efforts in many mine-affected countries. They:

- > threaten community safety
- > hinder the safe return of internally displaced persons (IDPs) and refugees to their communities
- > damage infrastructure essential for economic development and increase rebuilding costs
- > limit access to health care, education and other basic social services
- > prevent the use of assets vital to sustainable livelihoods; for example, water sources, irrigation channels and land used for agriculture, grazing, housing/resettlement and commerce
- deter public and private investment and economic development through increased uncertainty, cost and delays resulting from suspected presence of landmines

Box 1 | Impact of mines/ERW on post-conflict livelihoods in Yemen²

Landmines and other ERW often affect lives and livelihoods long after a conflict has ended. In Yemen, mine/ERW contamination, resulting from several internal conflicts, continues to threaten livelihoods. Mines directly block access to natural and physical assets, including farmland and grazing areas, roads, paths and strategically placed buildings. They have also prompted changes in livelihoods strategies, eg by accelerating migration from mine-affected villages for employment. Mine/ERW contamination has impeded infrastructure development, and has discouraged government-supported social development projects in affected communities³. Mine/ERW contamination also affects human capital through injury and death. Farmers and herders, including children, are often victims.

<u>Linking Mine Action and Development (LMAD)</u> is about ensuring <u>mine action</u> promotes socio-economic development and reduces poverty. LMAD is particularly relevant where landmine/ERW contamination impedes post-conflict reconstruction and development.

LMAD requires the integration of mine action in development policy and programming. It encourages effective coordination between mine action and development actors at all levels (community, subnational, national and international).

OVERVIEW AND BACKGROUND

WHY LINK MINE ACTION WITH DEVELOPMENT?

While difficult to quantify, the developmental impacts of mine action include safe roads; improved access and provision of health care, education and other social services; safe access and productive use of land intended for resettlement/housing, agriculture, grazing and forestry. Indirect developmental impacts include fewer deaths and injuries; increased availability of labour, skills and knowledge because of fewer accidents; improved sense of security; safe access to land, infrastructure, markets and social services; improved income levels, living standards and funds available for economic investment; a reduced burden placed on the health care system⁴.

When mine action first evolved, mine action organisations often operated in conflict and post-conflict environments in a largely stand-alone manner. According to the Overseas Development Institute, this is common, as "...post-conflict programming tends to consist of piecemeal, project-based approaches with little evidence of coordinated strategy." 5

Box 2 | Types of mine action

Mine action programmes find themselves responding to many different needs. For example,

Humanitarian mine action focuses on saving lives and limbs, providing a rapid and flexible response to hazards. It is often based on clear priorities set by international organisations (rather than the government). It is not exclusive to humanitarian emergencies; it can take place alongside mine action that is in support of <u>development</u>.

Mine action for internal security largely focuses on supporting the operational mandates of national and international forces to restore internal security.

Mine action for reconstruction focuses on rebuilding key infrastructure, often with a basis on clear priorities set by international organisations (rather than the government).

Mine action for development focuses on supporting new investments based on more varied demands from a range of diverse groups. Government ownership in this process is critical.

Mine action programmes rarely evolve in the order listed above. In some cases, there may be several different types of mine action taking place simultaneously within a given country. However, at a given point in time, national mine action programmes tend to be driven by at least one or two dominant forms of mine action (eg humanitarian, internal security, reconstruction, development).

During the early years, the focus of mine action was the safe and efficient clearance of mines/ERW to meet the basic security needs of IDPs, refugees and humanitarian aid workers. There was less attention to investigating which hazards posed the greatest danger to communities and their livelihoods or to coordinating interventions with humanitarian and development actors in order to ensure mine action promoted development.

WHY LINK MINE ACTION WITH DEVELOPMENT?

As emergencies ended and mine-affected countries stabilised, the focus of international assistance began to shift to post-conflict reconstruction and development. Mine action officials and practitioners often had difficulties making this shift from humanitarian mine action. National mine action programmes were not, and often still are not, linked early and strongly enough with key development actors. These include government officials in core budget and planning units, sector ministries and sub-national governments (which tend to assume greater control over national development planning post conflict, as state structures and capacity strengthen).⁷

Vertical, 'stovepipe' management structures within government and aid agencies often inhibit cross-sector coordination, impeding a unified response to the problem of contamination. Vertical management structures mean that a single government ministry deals with the mine/ERW contamination problem, often the Ministry of Defence or Interior. This results in limited outreach and coordination with other key sector ministries (eg Agriculture, Transport, Water and Sanitation, Land, finance, Planning, Tourism).

Weak links between key decision makers in mine action and government can lead to relevant officials remaining unaware of the impact of mine/ERW contamination on development.

Figure 1 illustrates the <u>architecture of mine action</u>, highlighting the various links and relationships that should exist between a national mine action programme and actors in the government, community and international arenas.

National Mine Action Authorities (NMAAs) and National Mine Action Centres (NMACs), as mine action coordination bodies, can play a vital role in improving relationships between key actors. They can assist with information sharing and strengthen coordination between mine action and development organisations. NMACs can inform relevant development partners, core budget and planning authorities and other public sector agencies about the impact of mine/ERW contamination on planned development and the mine action services that are available to assist. They should convince core budget and planning authorities to support mine action, either as a stand-alone programme or integrated into development activities.

OVERVIEW AND BACKGROUND

WHY LINK MINE ACTION WITH DEVELOPMENT?

Figure 1 | The architecture of mine action: Actors, arenas and linkages



Outreach to <u>development</u> agencies working in mine-affected countries is also vital. These agencies may lack information about the nature of contamination and about how <u>mine action</u> services can help. Without relevant information, NGOs working in contaminated areas often ignore, or work around the contamination problem. They may avoid working in severely mine-affected communities altogether due to concerns for staff safety, or lack of awareness that solutions to mine contamination exist. They may also choose to work in less contaminated areas where they can reach their performance targets without the extra time, effort and cost needed to deal with landmines.

In such situations, NMAAs, NMACs and mine/ERW operators need to engage development partners (government, non-governmental, commercial), providing them with up-to-date information about the extent of contamination and how mine action priorities are set. Development agencies should be made aware of the range of mine action services available, so that contaminated communities are not bypassed for security reasons and therefore 'doubly damned'.

WHY LINK MINE ACTION WITH DEVELOPMENT?

Donor funding for mine action has been a cause of weak coordination between mine action programmes and development actors. Since the adoption of the Anti-Personnel Mine Ban Convention (APMBC), funding for mine action has been relatively generous, but much was channelled through dedicated mine action funds. This has resulted in cases of the Samaritan's Dilemma, where generous donor funding discourages partner governments from making an effort to help themselves. As a result, many mine action programme managers have had little incentive to reflect mine action in national, subnational and sector development plans and budgets. They also have not actively sought official development assistance from bilateral and multilateral donors. However, it is probable that dedicated funding for mine action will fall, and partner governments will no longer be able to rely on generous external assistance for mine action.

The lack of practical guidance for practitioners and policy makers on how to link mine action with development has also had a negative effect. Despite extensive research documenting the need for greater coordination, no one has gathered the many examples of good practice and lessons learnt to provide practical policy and programming guidance.

ENDNOTES

- Pound B, Martin A, Qadr A and Mukred A; Livelihood analysis of landmine-affected communities in Yemen. Chatham: NRI, 2006. http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/ma_ development/ database/Livelihoods in Yemen.pdf
- 3 ibid
- For an expanded discussion of the developmental impacts of mine action, see Ted Paterson, "Time to go MAD" in Stuart Maslen, Mine Action After Diana: Progress in the Struggle Against Landmines. University of Michigan Press, 2004.
- Catherine Longley, Ian Christoplos, Tom Slaymaker and Silvestro Meseka; Rural Recovery in Fragile States: Agricultural support in countries emerging from conflict. Overseas Development Institute, Natural Resource Perspectives 105, February 2007. http://www.odi. org.uk/Publications/nrp105.pdf
- Ted Paterson, "Time to go MAD" in Stuart Maslen, Mine Action After Diana: Progress in the Struggle Against Landmines. University of Michigan Press, 2004.
- ibid.
- 8 ibid
- For example, see: Pound B, Martin A, Qadr A and Mukred A. Livelihood analysis of landmine affected communities in Yemen. Chatham: NRI, 2006; Austcare, Integrated Mine Action: Lessons and Recommendations from Austcare's Program in Cambodia, January 2007; GICHD and UNDP. Socio-Economic Approaches to Mine Action: An Operational Handbook. May 2002; Kristian Berg Harpviken & Jan Isaksen. Reclaiming the Fields of War: Mainstreaming Mine Action in Development. PRIO and UNDP, 2004; Ted Paterson, "Time to go MAD" in Stuart Maslen, Mine Action After Diana: Progress in the Struggle Against Landmines. University of Michigan Press, 2004.

PURPOSE OF THE GUIDELINES



PURPOSE OF THE GUIDELINES

The purpose of the LMAD guidelines is to provide <u>mine action</u> and <u>development</u> actors with guidance on how to ensure mine action supports efforts to promote development and reduce poverty in mine-affected countries. More specifically, the guidelines seek to:

- > increase awareness that mine/<u>ERW</u> contamination is a developmental constraint in many mine-affected countries
- > strengthen coordination among mine action and development actors
- > ensure mine action planning and implementation, including prioritysetting, promotes development and poverty reduction efforts
- > align mine action with national, sub-national and/or sector development plans, programmes and budgets
- encourage development actors to work in mine-affected communities and to effectively coordinate and run their efforts with mine action organisations
- > help official development cooperation agencies to integrate mine action in their bilateral and multilateral development assistance programmes
- > promote meaningful and inclusive community participation in mine action and development planning and implementation

Who should use the guidelines

To ensure the relevance and suitability of the messages, there are separate guidelines for different audiences:

- > mine-affected states: national governments, national mine action authorities, sub-national governments, core budget and planning units, sector ministries and statutory bodies
- > mine action organisations: national mine action centres, mine/ERW operators, organisations offering mine risk education (MRE) and assistance to mine survivors
- > official development cooperation agencies: bilateral donors, UN agencies, multilateral development banks
- > development partners: <u>humanitarian and development NGOs</u>, private sector agencies

How to use the guidelines

Drawing from international experience and lessons learnt, the complete LMAD guidance consists of the following:

- > overview of basic Linking Mine Action and Development concepts
- > summarised guidelines which highlight the main recommendations

PURPOSE OF THE GUIDELINES

- expanded guidelines which include detailed explanations, case studies, examples and relevant annexes
- > glossary of terms to assist with frequently used concepts and terms
- > supplementary reading list which lists relevant publications and research by theme, and signposts specific websites for additional information

The guidelines offer several different types of information. This overview includes generally accepted principles for <u>linking mine action and development</u>. These principles are the foundation of the guidelines. The summary highlights the guidelines; the expanded guidelines explain them in more detail.

Figures and text boxes illustrate in practice applications of the theory of LMAD. The endnotes and supplementary reading list identify additional sources of information and include web-links for easy reference.

The guidelines aim to be clear, accessible and practical and to help users think through these issues as they design, plan, implement, monitor and evaluate mine action and development programmes. They focus on the specific policy and programming implications of linking mine action and development for different stakeholders. They are not rigid, step-by-step instructions. As there is no one model for how to ensure mine action promotes development, the guidelines should be adapted to the local context and operating environment.

Efforts have been made to cover a wide span of issues. However, there are significant amounts of other information and relevant tools within the mine action and development domains. Where possible, these resources are "signposted" in the endnotes and supplementary reading list.

Some users may require more information, operational tools and perhaps training. For additional information about the guidelines as well as LMAD e-learning materials, recommended background reading, detailed case studies and training events, visit GICHD's LMAD portal at www.gichd.org/lmad. Please note that electronic versions of the guidelines include a wider range of detailed case studies and examples and hyperlinks to relevant publications and websites.

Feedback and updates

The guidelines are a first attempt to gather and translate good practice and lessons learnt. They are open to future revision and further development, based on user implementation and feedback. If you have any suggestions, examples or general feedback that would help to improve future versions of the guidelines, please send them to s.naidoo@gichd.org

GUIDELINES





This section lists practical measures to help states affected by mine/ERW contamination promote <u>development</u> in mine-affected communities and areas. The guidelines are divided according to national governments, national <u>mine action</u> authorities, sub-national governments, core budget and planning units and sector ministries and statutory bodies.

Note that these guidelines are a first attempt to gather lessons learnt and assist users to think through these issues. As there is no single model or approach for <u>linking mine action and development</u>, the guidelines should be adapted to the local context and operating environment and the policies specific to each organisation. Although the guidelines cover a wide range of issues, they are not comprehensive. There is significant further information available within the mine action and development fields that outlines approaches and methods in detail. Endnotes and the supplementary reading list point readers to much of this additional material.

GUIDELINES

FOR NATIONAL GOVERNMENTS

 DEMONSTRATE NATIONAL OWNERSHIP OF THE MINE/ERW CONTAMINATION PROBLEM AT THE HIGHEST LEVEL OF GOVERNMENT. DEVELOP SUSTAINABLE NATIONAL CAPACITIES TO UNDERTAKE ALL ELEMENTS OF MINE ACTION OVER THE MEDIUM AND LONG-TERM

Put in place an institutional framework for the mine action programme consisting of legal instruments (eg laws/decrees and regulations). Ensure national legislation reflects the country's international treaty obligations.¹⁰

- a. Establish the key organs of the national mine action programme. These typically include:
 - > National Mine Action Authority (NMAA), the main mine action policy-making body. This is comprised of representatives from relevant government units at the national level (eg Foreign Affairs, Defence, Interior, Agriculture, Infrastructure, Health, Planning, Finance, etc). NMAAs play a critical leadership role in setting national mine action policy, ensuring international legal obligations are met and mobilising resources ¹¹
 - > National Mine Action Centre (NMAC), the organ primarily responsible for policy implementation. NMACs are responsible for the planning and day-to-day coordination of the national mine action programme. They act as the focal point for mine action activities on the ground 12
- Establish the key organs of the national mine action programme. These typically include:
 - > clear goals for the national mine action programme and mechanisms for monitoring progress toward these goals
 - > policies and regulations to guide mine action actors in their work
 - > 'whole-of-government' policies¹³ to guide other public sector agencies (sector ministries, sub-national governments, statutory bodies, etc) in how to address mine/<u>ERW</u> contamination affecting their work programmes
 - aid effectiveness policies¹⁴ to guide <u>development</u> partners (official development cooperation agencies, NGOs, etc) in how to address mine/<u>ERW</u> contamination affecting their work

FOR NATIONAL GOVERNMENTS

c. Allocate sufficient and appropriate human, material and financial resources to mine action

Reflect mine action in the national budget through allocations of financial and in-kind support. This will demonstrate commitment to the mine action programme and the plight of citizens in mine-affected communities.

d. Where external resources are required, and in close consultation with the NMAA, identify mine action as a humanitarian and development priority during consultations with donors

Reflect mine action as a priority in all relevant planning and budget documents for discussions with official <u>development</u> cooperation agencies.

Raise the developmental impact of mine/ERW contamination in government-donor aid coordination forums, (eg sector working groups, roundtable meetings, consultative groups). These meetings offer good opportunities to raise the issue of mine/ERW contamination and to obtain financial and/or technical support from donors. Use these meetings to promote greater harmonisation and alignment of donor support to the mine action sector.



GUIDELINES

FOR NATIONAL GOVERNMENTS

 ENSURE THE NATIONAL MINE ACTION PROGRAMME RESPONDS TO THE HUMANITARIAN AND DEVELOPMENT NEEDS OF ALL CITIZENS AFFECTED BY MINE/ERW CONTAMINATION, PARTICULARLY SURVIVORS OF LANDMINE/ERW ACCIDENTS

Assess the location of hazards, the full humanitarian and <u>development</u> impact of the contamination and the intended use of cleared land. In some cases, the NMAC may lead this process; in others, it should support it.

Include mine/<u>ERW</u> survivors and affected communities in discussions on planning, executing and evaluating programmes that affect them.

29

FOR NATIONAL GOVERNMENTS

- 3. REFLECT MINE ACTION IN NATIONAL AND SECTOR DEVELOPMENT PLANS, PROGRAMMES AND BUDGETS
- a. Mine action is an issue that affects many sectors. Ensure development planners reflect mine action requirements in development plans. programmes and budgets at national, sub-national and/or sector levels

Ensure proper allocation of the resources available to the mine action programme across the country and various sectors. This demonstrates recognition that contamination is a development problem. It will also strengthen efforts to obtain external funding for the national mine action programme, if required.16

Box 3 illustrates mine action's contributions to the achievement of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs).

Box 3 | How mine action contributes to the achievement of the Millennium Development Goals 17

MDG

BENEFITS

- 1. Eradicate extreme poverty and hunger
- > Access to previously contaminated agricultural and grazing land improves food security and income generation
- > Clearance of roads allows better access to markets, lowering the cost of inputs and providing incentives for increased production
- Clearance of heavily-impacted communities allows the sustainable return of displaced persons
- > Socio-economic reintegration programmes for landmine survivors creates sustainable livelihoods for an extremely vulnerable group
- 2. Achieve universal primary education
- > Clearance of contaminated areas improves access to schools
- > Clearance of wells close to communities means children spend less time travelling long and potentially dangerous routes to collect water leaving more time to attend school and do school work

GUIDELINES

FOR NATIONAL GOVERNMENTS

Box 3 | How mine action contributes to the achievement of the Millennium Development Goals

MDG

BENEFITS

- 3. Promote gender equality and empower women
- > Non-traditional employment opportunities for women, including female caregivers of landmine survivors
- > Socio-economic reintegration programmes for landmine survivors empower female survivors and female heads of household
- > Participatory community consultations about the nature of the mine/ERW contamination problem and priorities for clearance and other mine action activities obtain the views of women and men
- 4. Reduce Child mortality > Improved access to health services and facilities
 - > Reduced risk to children resulting from mine risk education and clearance of contaminated areas
- 5. Improve maternal health
- > Improved access to health services and facilities
- 6. Combat HIV/AIDS, malaria and other diseases
- > Improved access to health services and facilities
- > Clearance of water and sanitation facilities reduces risk of malaria and other diseases
- 7. Ensure environmental sustainability
- > Handover of cleared land and land title promotes sustainable land use
- > Improved access to safe drinking water through clearance and construction of wells
- 8. Develop a global partnership for development
- > Working in partnership with mine-affected countries committed to poverty reduction
- > APMBC is clear that (i) governments of mine-affected states bear the primary responsibility but that (ii) states in a position to assist should do so

FOR NATIONAL GOVERNMENTS

b. Encourage mine action officials to work closely with budget and planning authorities to increase their understanding of national development priorities and development planning, management and financing mechanisms¹⁸

It is vital that mine action officials clearly understand:

- > which decisions are made where, and by whom (ie how responsibilities are divided across ministries and among government levels)
- > how decisions concerning financial allocations are made, particularly the annual budget process
- > when budget decisions are made (ie understanding the <u>annual</u> <u>budget calendar</u>)
- > aid modalities, the different ways to deliver international aid
- c. Ensure the mine action programme supports the broader peace-building and human security agenda, including armed violence reduction (AVR), Security System Reform (SSR) and Disarmament, Demobilisation and Reintegration (DDR) programmes

GUIDELINES

FOR NATIONAL GOVERNMENTS

4. MEET INTERNATIONAL LEGAL OBLIGATIONS RELATING TO WEAPONS CONTAMINATION

Fulfil international legal obligations to destroy stockpiles of <u>landmines</u> and to locate and clear areas contaminated with mines/<u>ERW</u>¹⁹. Take steps to reduce the number of mine/ERW-related casualties and provide support to survivors.

Report on progress and support efforts to extend and universalise the Anti-Personnel Mine Ban Convention, Convention on Conventional Weapons (in particular Amended Protocol II and V on ERW), Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and the Convention on Cluster Munitions.



ENDNOTES

- Convention on the Prohibition of the Use, Stockpiling, Production and Transfer of Anti-Personnel Mines and on Their Destruction http://www.apminebanconvention.org /fileadmin/pdf/mbc/text_status/Ottawa_Convention_English.pdf; Protocol V and amended Protocol II of the Convention on Certain Conventional Weapons, http://www.unog.ch/unog/website/disarmament.nsf/(httpPages)/BE5FA935703D981BC12571DE0062260 C?OpenDocument&unid=4F0DEF093B4860B4C1257180004B1B30; Convention on the Rights of People with Disabilities, http://www.un.org/disabilities/documents/convention/convoptprot-e.pdf; Convention on Cluster Munitions, http://www.clusterconvention.org/downloadablefiles/ccm77_english.pdf
- GICHD. A Guide to Mine Action and Explosive Remnants of War. Third Edition. April 2007. http://www.gichd.org/gichd-publications/index-guide-to-mine-action-and-explosiveremnants-of-war-2007/
- The exact division of responsibilities between the National Mine Action Authority (NMAA) and the NMAC varies from country to country. The Mine Action Centre typically carries out the policies of the NMAA, coordinates the work of the various organisations and agencies (NGO, UN, bilateral agency or commercial contractor) conducting mine action operations, carries out MRE training and conducts reconnaissance of hazardous areas. It also collects and centralises mine data and ensures they form part of a coherent integrated programme that addresses priority needs in a rational and cost-effective manner.

FOR NATIONAL GOVERNMENTS

- A 'whole of government' approach refers to public service agencies working across portfolio boundaries/ministries to achieve a shared goal and an integrated government response to particular issues. Approaches can be formal or informal.
- The main aid effectiveness principles are (i) a focus on achieving developmental results based on (ii) national ownership, (iii) aligning international assistance with national development priorities, (iv) increased harmonization among donors and (v) mutual accountability. See Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness: Ownership, Harmonisation, Alignment, Results, and Mutual Accountability. High Level Forum, Paris, March 2005. http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/11/41/34428351.pdf
- Consultative Group meetings, Roundtables, UN joint assessments and bilateral discussions are government-donor aid coordination forums that discuss policy issues at a national level. At the sector level, Technical or Sector Working Groups serve as a platform for discussing specific sector-related issues in more detail.
- During humanitarian emergencies, bilateral and multilateral donors disburse funds to mine-affected countries for mine action even if mine/ERW contamination is not cited as a priority in development plans and budgets. This is often in response to several factors, such as the scale of the contamination, the humanitarian imperative and the urgent need to facilitate access for peacekeeping forces and humanitarian agencies. However, in some countries, the focus of international assistance shifts to post-conflict recovery, reconstruction and development as the situation stabilises, and government ownership of the mine/ERW contamination problem is critical.
- GICHD, Linking Mine Action and Development: Guidelines for Policy and Programme Development – Official Development Cooperation Agencies, November 2008.
- 18 ibid.
- Convention on the Prohibition of the Use, Stockpiling, Production and Transfer of Anti-Personnel Mines and on Their Destruction http://www.apminebanconvention.org/fileadmin/pdf/mbc/text_status/Ottawa_Convention_English.pdf; Protocol V and amended Protocol II of the Convention on Certain Conventional Weapons, http://www.unog.ch/unog/website/disarmament.nsf/(httpPages)/BE5FA935703D981BC12571DE0062261 C?OpenDocument&unid=4F0DEF093B4860B4C1257180004B1B30; Convention or People with Disabilities, http://www.un.org/disabilities/documents/convention/convoptprot-e.pdf; Convention on Cluster Munitions, http://www.clusterconvention.org/downloadablefiles/ccm77_english.pdf

GUIDELINES

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

- DEMONSTRATE NATIONAL OWNERSHIP OF THE MINE/ERW CONTAMINATION PROBLEM. DEVELOP SUSTAINABLE NATIONAL CAPACITIES TO UNDERTAKE ALL ELEMENTS OF MINE ACTION OVER THE MEDIUM AND LONG-TERM
- Refine and enforce the institutional framework established by the government for the national mine action programme:
 - > establish national policies and standards that create an 'enabling environment' for mine action, comply with international standards, reflect national norms (eg National Mine Action Standards)²⁰ and are consistent with other national laws and international legal obligations
 - > draft legislation to create an NMAC and its offices
 - > provide clear guidance on the role and functions of the NMAC
- b. Adopt a national mine action strategy and annual work plans to achieve mine action outputs and developmental outcomes

Direct the NMAC to develop and implement a national mine action strategy and annual work plans. Mine action priorities and strategies will differ for countries in the middle of a humanitarian emergency, for those focusing on post-conflict recovery and for those implementing traditional development programmes. For example, countries in the middle of a humanitarian emergency will prioritise mine action operations in support of saving lives and limbs. Those focused on post-conflict recovery will typically prioritise mine action in support of replacing lost assets and rebuilding damaged infrastructure.

Anticipate changes in country context and the demands placed on mine action (eg peacekeeping, reconstruction, development). Future demands placed on mine action may change dramatically, in line with a changing context, national priorities, donor interest and community needs. Ensure that the national mine action strategy is aligned with broader strategic objectives and development priorities at the national, sub-national and/or sector levels.

Promote, where appropriate, a <u>Programme-Based Approach (PBA)</u> for mine action to ensure there is one common strategy for mine action that applies to all key stakeholders (eg national government, mine action organisations, official development cooperation agencies, development partners, etc).²¹ Box 4 describes efforts by the Royal Government of Cambodia and other stakeholders to develop a PBA for mine action.

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

Box 4 | Developing a Programme-Based Approach to mine action in Cambodia

In February 2008, the Royal Government of Cambodia requested the GICHD assist with a study to assess the scope and feasibility of a new national <u>mine action</u> strategy. The purpose of the study was to facilitate a <u>'Programme-Based Approach'</u> for mine action. The request went through the Technical Working Group on Mine Action (the government-donor forum that feeds into the Government Donor Coordination Committee).

The study found that a new strategy meeting PBA standards was both feasible and necessary. It recommended that the Cambodian Mine Action and Victim Assistance Authority (CMAA) establish a Task Force to prepare such a strategy. The UNDP is supporting the Task Force on coordination and donor engagement.

The new national mine action strategy will adopt a Programme-Based Approach to mine action. There will be one common strategy based on a common needs assessment and incorporating a common research and evaluation agenda to document developmental results. The strategy will be firmly based on the priorities outlined in the Government's national <u>development</u> strategies (eg the Rectangular Strategy, National Strategic Development Plan, and <u>Millennium Development Goals</u>) and budgets. The process reflects efforts to strengthen national aid management capacity and to use government systems and resources.

The new strategy will help ensure that all donor and government-funded mine action projects are based on a single strategy (which is not currently the case in Cambodia and for many other large mine action programmes). The Cambodia mine action strategy will be a Sector-Wide-Implementation Plan (SWIm) rather than a <u>Sector-Wide Approach</u> (SWAp). (Programme-Based Approach is the generic term for all such arrangements).

c. Develop a monitoring and evaluation plan to report on the progress of national mine action objectives

Direct the NMAC to develop a monitoring and evaluation plan to report on the progress of national mine action objectives. Effective monitoring and evaluation should demonstrate key mine action achievements to government officials, donors, mine action organisations and affected communities; it should pay special attention to development outcomes. Establish performance targets²² to clarify which mine action outputs will reach which beneficiaries and for what purposes. Monitor achievements in relation to improved lives and livelihoods in contaminated communities. This will help build a credible case to the government and donors on how the mine action programme supports development.

Merely reporting on progress in relation to mine action outputs (eg the number of mines/<u>ERW</u> removed and destroyed, the square metres of land cleared or the number of people trained) is not adequate. These indicators fail to measure the developmental impact of mine action²⁵ and they do not

GUIDELINES

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

reveal the impact clearance has on contaminated communities. Box 5 describes standard criteria and indicators for measuring the developmental outcomes of <u>mine action</u>. Use periodic monitoring and evaluation to ensure mine action managers learn lessons and apply them to improve performance in project planning and implementation.

Box 5 | Measuring the developmental outcomes of mine action ²⁴

The objective of a mine action intervention (ie project, programme, policy) is to 'make a difference' in the lives of people in mine-affected regions in terms of developmental values (eg health, security, material prosperity, psycho-social well-being, political <u>development</u>, etc.), and 'keeping busy' results (areas cleared, devices destroyed, people trained, etc.).

Standard criteria used for measuring the developmental outcomes of international development projects include relevance, efficiency, effectiveness, sustainability and impact. Additional criteria may be added where relevant to the country and programme/project context. For example, humanitarian mine action programmes could include criteria such as appropriateness, coverage, coherence and connectedness²⁵ (ie bridging the gap between humanitarian and development programming). ²⁶

The following are examples of indicators of socio-economic outcomes/impacts resulting from mine action:

- > reduction in the numbers of mine/ $\underline{\sf ERW}$ accidents and the loss of human or animal life
- > amount of cleared land brought into productive agricultural use
- > output produced and income generated from cleared agricultural land
- > value of fodder, firewood and other resources collected from grazing land
- > investment in new housing on demined land
- > resumed use of demined roads
- > numbers of clinics and schools reopened
- > reduced travel distances

d. Obtain appropriate human, technical and financial resources for mine action

Ensure a plan is in place to strengthen national capacity to manage all aspects of mine action. This plan should be based on a capacity needs assessment and should provide for the specific requirements of the NMAC. It should seek sustainable solutions, respect national ownership and international legal obligations and have clear objectives and indicators for monitoring progress. The NMAC should be staffed with personnel who have the necessary skills

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

(eg <u>development</u> planning, economic/community development, participatory approaches, partnership building) to ensure the <u>mine action</u> programme promotes development in contaminated areas and communities.

Where external resources are required, encourage officials attending government-donor aid coordination forums to raise mine action as a humanitarian and development priority. Consultative Group meetings, Roundtables and bilateral discussions are government-donor aid coordination forums that discuss broader policy issues. These meetings offer good opportunities to raise the issue of mine/ERW contamination and to obtain financial and technical support from donors.²⁷

Encourage <u>multilateral development banks</u> to include the cost of mine action services in the financing plans for reconstruction and development projects in mine-affected areas.²⁸

GUIDELINES

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

- 6. ENSURE THE NATIONAL MINE ACTION PROGRAMME RESPONDS TO THE HUMANITARIAN AND DEVELOPMENT NEEDS OF ALL CITIZENS AFFECTED BY MINE/ERW CONTAMINATION, PARTICULARLY SURVIVORS OF LANDMINE/ERW ACCIDENTS
- Assess the location of hazards, the full impact of contamination and the intended use of land when cleared

Commission a comprehensive assessment at the community level in collaboration with all groups working in affected communities. In some cases, the NMAC may lead this process; in others, it should support it. Ensure the assessment determines the location of hazards, the full humanitarian and development impact of the contamination, especially on the most vulnerable, and the intended use of land when cleared.

b. Ensure mine action priority-setting reflects an appropriate balance between humanitarian and development needs

<u>Priority-setting</u> is a critical part of managing a national <u>mine action</u> programme as it determines which minefields to clear first, given limited resources, time and capacity. However, there is no standard process or criteria for setting clearance priorities; it largely depends on country context, the nature and extent of the contamination, national capacity and the stakeholders involved.

During large-scale humanitarian emergencies, the criteria used for setting clearance priorities often emphasise the need to save lives. In such situations, where government capacity may be weak due to conflict, international actors such as UN agencies, <u>bilateral donors</u> and mine/<u>ERW</u> operators often set priorities.

As humanitarian emergencies end, the focus of international assistance shifts to post-conflict recovery, reconstruction and development. Priority-setting criteria should reflect an increased emphasis on replacing or rebuilding damaged infrastructure, rebuilding the national economy and meeting the needs of mine-affected communities.

In some situations, national priorities may conflict with the needs of contaminated communities. For example, a government may prioritise large-scale reconstruction projects (eg main roads, dams and tourism) while local residents prioritise clearance of fields, roads, public places, etc.

Try to broker national agreement on the balance between clearance undertaken to

- > reduce casualties and enhance community safety
- > promote socio-economic development
- enhance the country's capacity to address the contamination problem²⁹

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

Box 6 outlines the criteria developed in Cambodia for setting clearance priorities.

Box 6 | Criteria for setting clearance priorities: Cambodia's approach 30

In 2006, the CMAA issued policy and operational guidelines on the socio-economic management of mine clearance operations. The guidelines specify criteria for setting clearance priorities to ensure the prioritisation process is understood by, and transparent to, all stakeholders. Mine Action Planning Units, local authorities, mine/ERW operators and development partners are required to use and adhere to these criteria, which are categorised as essential, recommended or optional:

> number of accidents

- > level of fear of having an accident in the mine field
- > beneficiaries (number, who they are, location, poverty level, awareness of land use purpose, size of land appropriate for number of beneficiaries)

RECOMMENDED

- > clear land use benefit
- > development support from an NGO or government
- > demining operator technical factors and preferences based on their prioritisation processes
- > problems or disputes on minefield land
- > available resources or village plan

OPTIONAL

- > standard of living
- > fairness (of land distribution)
- > village priority
- > distance from village

40



FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

Setting clearance priorities without regard for developmental impact may allow clearance planning and logistics that are slightly more efficient. However, if clearance takes place in a relatively unpopulated area or where <u>development</u> partners are not available to provide support to affected communities, it may not result in the productive use of cleared land or benefit vulnerable communities. If priorities are set without consulting with key reconstruction and development actors, clearance may not support the reconstruction of a country's infrastructure and rehabilitation of essential public services.³¹



 Promote the use of pre- and post-clearance assessments to measure developmental outcomes in addition to the technical efficiency of clearance

Pre- and <u>post-clearance assessments</u> are important parts of the quality management process.

The purpose of a pre-clearance assessment is to:

- > assess the scale and socio-economic impact of the mine/ERW problem
- > investigate known or suspected mine/ERW contaminated areas
- collect general information (eg security situation, terrain, soil characteristics, climate, routes, infrastructure and local support facilities) needed to plan safe and efficient demining operations

These assessments can also enhance the developmental effectiveness of mine action by:

- > identifying community development priorities
- > helping to prioritise which communities and contaminated areas should be cleared first

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

- > identifying problems communities may face in using cleared land productively
- > determining whether <u>development</u> partners are working in contaminated communities
- determining whether development partners are available to assist affected communities in using cleared land productively

Mine/ERW operators, particularly those with community liaison teams, regularly collect such data from communities as it facilitates the prioritisation of tasks. 32

Post-clearance assessments³³ (PCAs) are surveys usually undertaken several months or years after clearance to ensure the mine action priority-setting process is effective.³⁴ If PCA focuses on post-clearance outputs, the key aim is to determine whether mine/ERW operators are "doing the job right." However, PCA can also be used to determine whether mine/ERW operators are "doing the right job", for example by:

- > determining the real benefits that resulted from clearance
- > ensuring cleared land is used as intended
- > assessing whether women and men are equally involved in decisions relating to the use of land that has been cleared
- > identifying problems communities may have in using cleared land productively.35
- > determining whether coordination between <u>mine action</u> and development actors is adequate
- > strengthening accountability to communities, mine-affected states and donors in terms of reporting on developmental outcomes and the proper use of funds

Encourage mine/ERW operators to share this information with relevant government officials (eg sub-national governments, sector ministries) and development partners. This will ensure better design, planning and targeting of development programmes.

In countries where national <u>priority-setting_systems</u> do not exist and where mine/<u>ERW</u> operators set their own clearance priorities, ensure operators conduct pre- and post-clearance assessments whenever relevant.³⁶ Make sure the results inform mine action planning. This will promote standardisation in

42

GUIDELINES

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

the type of data collected (eg using common forms or guidelines). It will also allow for improved analysis of the overall benefits resulting from clearance.

Use <u>post-clearance assessments</u> to monitor the effectiveness of <u>priority-setting</u> and to document the resulting benefits.

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

7. WORK WITH GOVERNMENT OFFICIALS TO ENSURE MINE ACTION IS REFLECTED IN NATIONAL, PROVINCIAL AND/OR SECTOR DEVELOPMENT PLANS, PROGRAMMES AND BUDGETS

Encourage <u>development</u> planners to include <u>mine action</u> as a cross-cutting issue in national, sub-national and/or sector development plans, programmes and budgets, where warranted by the degree of contamination.

Be proactive in securing financial commitments from the national government where mine/<u>ERW</u> contamination is a developmental priority and the government has the resources to address its own contamination problem.

a. Ensure mine action officials work closely with national budget and planning authorities

Make public sector agencies, relevant sector ministries and core budget and planning units:

- > aware of the impact of mine/ERW contamination on development investments using mine action data and other compelling evidence
- identify where development programmes are avoiding contaminated areas due to lack of awareness or support
- > reflect mine action in development plans
- > allocate financial and in-kind support where possible by reflecting mine action in the national budget, public investment programme and Medium-Term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) ³⁷

To ensure mine action is reflected appropriately in development plans and budgets, it is vital that NMAA officials understand national development priorities and development planning, management and financing mechanisms³⁸. This includes understanding:

- > which decisions are made where, and by whom (ie how authorities are divided across ministries and among government levels)
- > how decisions concerning financial resource allocations are made, particularly the annual budget process
- when budget decisions are made (ie understanding the <u>annual</u> <u>budget calendar</u> and key milestones)
- > aid modalities

GUIDELINES

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

Align mine action planning with the annual budget cycle and ensure that meetings with budget and planning officials take place well in advance, during the preparatory phase.

 Advocate for greater harmonisation and alignment of donor support to the mine action sector

Improved donor coordination, harmonisation and alignment with national mine action priorities and strategies will strengthen the effectiveness of mine action services in delivering <u>development</u> outcomes. (See Table 1 on the Paris Declaration)

Work with stakeholders in government and the international community to promote, where appropriate, a <u>Programme-Based Approach</u> for mine action. This will ensure there is one common strategy for mine action, based on a common assessment of needs. Include common plans for monitoring and evaluation in the strategy so that all key stakeholders can monitor progress toward the outlined objectives.

Table 1 | The Paris Declaration principles and indicators³⁹

The Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness outlines principles for improving the effectiveness of aid. The following indicators track progress in a measurable way.

Principle Ownership	Indicator 1. Increase the number of countries with national development strategies
Alignment	Increase the number of countries with procurement and financial systems that adhere to broadly acceptable good practice or have a reform programme in place
	3. Aid flows will be aligned on national priorities
	4. Partner country capacity strengthened by coordinated support programmes
	5. Donors will use country systems where they meet broadly acceptable good practice standards
	6. Use of parallel project implementation units to be reduced
	7. Aid disbursements will be more predictable
	8. Aid will be untied
Harmonisation	9. The increased use of common arrangements or procedures through programme-based approaches
	10. The increased use of shared analysis

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

Table 1 contd. | The Paris Declaration principles and indicators

Managing for results

11. More countries will have results based frameworks for monitoring progress of national development programmes

Mutual accountability 12. More countries will undertake mutual accountability assessments of progress in improving aid effectiveness

Box 7 | Coordination challenges: Integrated mine action and development programmes in northwest Cambodia

Integrated mine action and development programming is increasingly being embraced by development and mine action actors in mine-affected countries. Cambodia is an example, with several development agencies implementing integrated programming in some of the same provinces of northwestern Cambodia:

- > the CIDA-funded Agricultural Development in Mine-Affected Communities (ADMAC) project targets 155 villages in Battambang and Banteay Meanchey provinces and the municipality of Pailin and is being implemented through the Ministry of Agriculture. Forestry and Fisheries (MAFF)
- > the AusAID-funded and CARE-implemented Australia-Cambodia Integrated Mine Action (ACIMA) project targets 28 villages in Sala Krau and Pailin districts of the municipality of Pailin
- > the AusAID-funded and Austcare-implemented Integrated Mine Action and Development (AIMAD) Programme targets 16 villages in Banteay Meanchey province
- > the EC-funded Economic and Social Relaunch of Northern Provinces (ECOSORN) targets 90 villages in Battambang, Banteay Meanchey and Siem Reap provinces and is also being implemented through MAFF
- > the AusAID-funded Community Strengthening and Gender Mainstreaming in Integrated Mine Action (CSGMIMA) programme, implemented by World Vision and the International Women's Development Agency, targets 15 villages in Battambang and Preah Vihear

While these programmes illustrate increasing support for integration, they also highlight the need for effective coordination and harmonisation among official development cooperation agencies. Failure to coordinate and share information can lead to duplication and other problems. In the case of Cambodia, insufficient coordination among development agencies about project plans led to initial duplication in target villages, for example between the ACIMA and ADMAC programmes.⁴⁰ As the projects are similar in several aspects, the relevant agencies would have benefited from greater information sharing among donors and implementing partners during the project design phases to ensure better use of resources.

GUIDELINES

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

- 8. STRENGTHEN INFORMATION SHARING AND COLLABORATION AMONG DIFFERENT ACTORS
- a. Share information with development actors about the nature and extent of mine/ERW contamination

Mine action organisations often possess information and maps that could be useful to development agencies. Find out what they need to help them achieve their objectives. Direct the NMAC to

- > Regularly share information about the impact of mine/ERW contamination and the activities of the national mine action programme. For example, mine action surveys describe the nature and location of contaminated areas, the numbers of deaths and injuries in those areas and vulnerable groups engaging in high-risk behaviour (eg foraging or farming on suspected mined areas). Information about clearance operations, the location of damaged infrastructure and inaccessible assets (eg agriculture and grazing land) and communities requiring development assistance is useful.
- > Find out which public sector agencies and other development partners have data that may be useful to mine action operations. Cultivate relationships with these agencies and share information. For example, ministries of land management, transportation, forestry, rural development, water and sanitation, etc may have useful sector-related data, often in GIS format.⁴¹ Municipalities and public utilities often have physical planning data that may be of use.



Facilitate, in association with the NMAC, formal coordination bodies at national and sub-national levels to promote cooperation and information sharing

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

NMAAs and NMACs often coordinate regular meetings of mine action organisations. In some cases, government officials, donor agencies and humanitarian and development NGOs also attend. Such meetings provide a forum for mine action organisations to share information and discuss key issues. In situations where there is no NMAC, assist these coordination bodies. Encourage humanitarian and development NGOs working in mine-affected areas to take part in these meetings.

Ensure mine action representatives participate in donor or NGO coordination forums to share information about planned and current activities. Use these meetings to inform humanitarian and development actors about the mine action services available and the time-frames and processes for requesting mine action assistance. Find out about government and development NGO plans and schedules to provide well-timed input regarding how mine/ERW contamination can affect development projects.

Establish and coordinate a national mine action information management system and database

In instances where no NMAC exists, ensure there is an effective information management system in place to support decision-making at both the strategic and operational levels. Ensure a mine action database is in place and kept up-to-date with accurate data. Ask mine action organisations to provide accurate and up-to-date data. Regularly share relevant information with development actors regarding the extent and nature of contamination, casualties, mine action activities and results achieved.

Box 8 | Using mine action information to promote development

Mine action programme managers typically use databases to:

- > plan, manage, report and map the results of survey and field data collection
- > report on and map mine, UXO and other ERW threats
- > record, report on and map clearance activities

Users of such systems include mine action organisations, national governments, international organisations, NGOs and peacekeeping forces. They often combine GIS capability with a relational database to assist those working on field survey, casualty surveillance, MRE, clearance and other mine action activities.

Development partners can also use mine action data to inform the targeting and design of development programmes in mine-affected countries. Users can request data on a wide range of issues, for example, data generated in the form of lists, reports and maps indicate:

48

GUIDELINES

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

Box 8 | Using mine action information to promote development

- > which parts of the country are safe and which contain some form of mine/<u>ERW</u>-related
- > areas where clearance (marking, fencing, clearance, land release, etc) has taken place, is currently taking place and is planned
- > number, location, type and cause of accidents
- > information about victims age, sex, type of injury, occupation, location of accidents, season, etc
- > where MRE has been delivered
- > location of hazardous areas and accidents relative to infrastructure, eg roads, bridges, hospitals, schools, agriculture land, irrigation channels
- > number and location of affected communities
- > type of blocked assets, eg crop land, roads, water, infrastructure

The information generated will depend on the accuracy and level of detail of the data entered. The databases can often provide <u>development</u> organisations with useful information to compare against poverty-related data. For example, as part of Handicap International's <u>Battle Area Clearance</u> programme (2007-2008) in South Lebanon, HI <u>Community Liaison</u> Officers collected data from UXO-affected communities using IMSMA forms. These forms, such as 'Town Data Sheets', 'Dangerous Area Forms' and 'Victim Reports', were fed into the data system managed by the UN <u>Mine Action</u> Coordination Centre for South Lebanon (UNMACC SL). Community Liaison Officers also collected data related to the livelihoods of affected communities, population size and movements and community members entering contaminated areas despite knowing the risks. This data is of interest to humanitarian and development actors. ⁴²

Ensure mine action policies, programmes and operations are inclusive and respond to the needs of all those affected, without bias

Mine/ERW contamination affects women, men, girls and boys differently. NMAAs therefore have a role in promoting inclusive, gender-sensitive mine action policies. Ensure all aspects of mine action, from planning and priority-setting, to clearance and post-clearance assessments, are gender-sensitive, and include landmine survivors and mine-affected communities. ⁴⁵ A gender-sensitive approach to mine action can increase the participation of women in mine action planning and implementation. It is equally important to recognise that men and boys are more often the victims of mine/ERW and are more likely to engage in high risk activities.

The UN Gender Guidelines for Mine Action Programmes are an important starting point when considering gender within the context of mine action.⁴⁴ The United Nations Mine Action Service (UNMAS) developed the guidelines in 2005 to encourage policy-makers and field staff to incorporate gender

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

perspectives in mine action initiatives. For example, the guidelines highlight the benefits of disaggregating data by gender when collecting and analysing mine/ERW contamination information and mine action achievements.⁴⁵

Box 9 | Benefits of a gender-sensitive mine action assessment in Jordan⁴⁶

In Jordan, the National Committee for Demining and Rehabilitation (NCDR) and Norwegian People's Aid (NPA) undertook a Landmine Retrofit Survey with a clear gender perspective. Gender balanced survey teams gathered information from women and men in affected communities. Meetings were scheduled at convenient times and locations to make sure all segments of society could participate. In discussions about how minefields threaten lives and block development and how clearance would improve life for women, men, girls and boys, people submitted information on the location of accidents.

The analysis of the data collected showed that males and females identified different areas as contaminated. Men and women have different information depending on mobility patterns, daily tasks and knowledge. One of the main conclusions was that clearance operations have to take into account the needs of both men and women. It also demonstrated that female participation results in better data.

Encourage mine/ERW operators to use participatory, inclusive approaches when engaging local communities. Ensure that the needs of all groups within the community are considered. This may require consulting women and men separately, as well as other groups (eg the disabled), as their specific needs may not be recognised by community leaders.

Encourage mine/ERW operators to ensure that the benefits arising from employment opportunities are open and accessible to all individuals within the community: women, men, people with disabilities, ethnic groups.



GUIDELINES

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

e. Ensure the mine action programme supports the broader peace building and security agenda

Mines/ERW, small arms and light weapons (SALW) are all tools of armed violence that negatively affect lives and livelihoods after conflict. The Efforts to address mine/ERW contamination and SALW are often addressed separately. However, mine action can contribute to programmes focused on armed violence reduction, peace building, security system reform (SSR) and the disarmament, demobilisation and reintegration (DDR) of former combatants. Greater coordination could strengthen programme planning, reduce duplication and provide a more coherent response to community safety. Explore opportunities by engaging with key actors involved in peace building and security programmes at national and international levels.

For example, in several mine-affected countries (eg Afghanistan, Cyprus, Lebanon, Mozambique and Sudan) mine action has been a key component in peace building and reconciliation through the employment of demobilised ex-combatants. As clearance is a labour intensive activity, it has the potential to absorb large numbers of ex-combatants and provide employment, training, discipline and the opportunity to earn respect. If the employment of mine action staff is balanced, employing equal numbers of each faction, this can send a strong positive message in support of wider reconciliation.⁴⁸

Box 10 describes how mine action was used as a confidence-building measure in Sudan.

Box 10 | Promoting peace and building confidence: Mine action in Sudan

More than two decades of conflict have left Sudan with a legacy of <u>landmines</u>/ERW that continues to threaten security and human <u>development</u>. Both the Sudan Armed Forces (SAF) and the Sudan People's Liberation Movement/Army (SPLM/A) laid mines.⁴⁰ Despite the conflict, various mine action initiatives have been ongoing since 1996. In 1997, the Government of Sudan (GoS) signed the Anti-Personnel Mine Ban Treaty and in 2001 the SPLM/A signed the Geneva Call Deed of Commitment.⁵⁰ This opened a channel of communication and a realisation that, in the event of a ceasefire, mine action could play an important role in building peace.

Progress in mine action helped build confidence between the opposing parties. For example, while maintaining their own mine action centres, both parties agreed to address the mine/ERW threat jointly. A system of counterparts and professional exchanges built trust. For example, deminers from north and south Sudan were jointly trained. The Sudanese Landmines Information and Response Initiative (SLIRI, formed in 2001 as a joint initiative by the warring parties) conducted a joint assessment of the contamination problem.

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

Box 10 contd. | Promoting peace and building confidence: Mine action in Sudan

The signing of a tri-partite Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) between the GoS, the SPLM and the United Nations Mine Action Service (UNMAS) in September 2002 was a further milestone in support of the peace process. The MoU provided the necessary framework for mine action throughout Sudan with the overall objective of reducing casualties. The UN also committed itself to assisting both parties to jointly develop a national mine action strategy that would meet the immediate needs of the humanitarian emergency and assist in developing a longer-term mine action plan. Based on this tripartite agreement, the parties developed and signed the joint National Mine Action Strategic Framework by August 2004.

This paved the way for further cooperation between the two parties. To implement joint mine action, the National Mine Action Office (NMAO) was established, which involved actors from both sides of the conflict. Meanwhile SLIRI played a key role in strengthening the capacity of civil society, based on its prior collaboration with the local population. In 2006, 133 deminers (73 from SPLA and 60 from SAF) trained as the Joint Integrated Demining Units (JIDUs), and eventually cleared the Babanusa-Wau railway line, the only land link between north and south Sudan. In addition to funding the clearance of the railway line, the Government of National Unity (GONU) provided funds for road clearance in Kassala State by the JIDUs. To facilitate the work of the joint teams, the Joint Defence Board, the highest joint military institution, established an Information Management Committee in January 2007 with three members each from SAF and SPLA. This Committee has been instrumental in successful JIDU deployment. It is another example of practical cooperation and coordination.

GUIDELINES

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

IMPLEMENT INTERNATIONAL LEGAL OBLIGATIONS RELATING TO WEAPONS CONTAMINATION⁵¹

Fulfil international legal obligations to destroy stockpiles of landmines and to locate and clear areas contaminated with mines/ERW. Take steps to reduce the number of mine/ERW-related deaths and injuries and provide support to survivors.

Report on progress and support efforts to extend and universalise the Anti-Personnel Mine Ban Convention, Convention on Conventional Weapons (in particular Amended Protocol II and V on ERW), Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and the Convention on Cluster Munitions.

Box 11 | The Nairobi Action Plan: Actions relevant to Linking Mine Action and Development

States Parties to the APMBC agreed the Nairobi Action Plan⁵² during its first Review Conference in 2005. The following are extracts that call on mine-affected states to ensure <u>mine</u> action promotes development.

Action #19: Urgently develop and implement national plans, using a process that involves, where relevant, local actors and mine-affected communities, emphasising the clearance of high and medium impact areas as a matter of priority, and ensuring that task selection, prioritisation and planning of mine clearance where relevant are undertaken in mine-affected communities.

Action #32: Actively support the socio-economic reintegration of mine victims, including providing education and vocational training and developing sustainable economic activities and employment opportunities in mine-affected communities, integrating such efforts in the broader context of economic development, and striving to ensure significant increases of economically reintegrated mine victims.

Action #40: Ensure that clearing mined areas and assisting victims are identified as priorities, wherever this is relevant, in national, sub-national and sector development plans and programmes, Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers (PRSPs), UN Development Assistance Frameworks, and other appropriate mechanisms, thus reinforcing national commitment and increasing ownership in fulfilling Convention obligations.

Action #47: Encourage the international development community – including national development cooperation agencies where possible and as appropriate – to play a significantly expanded role in mine action, recognising that mine action for many States Parties is fundamental to the advancement of the UN <u>Millennium Development Goals</u>.

Action #48: Use, where relevant, their participation in decision making bodies of relevant organisations to urge the UN and regional organisations and the World Bank and regional development banks and financial institutions to support States Parties requiring assistance in fulfilling the Convention's obligations, inter alia by calling for the integration of mine action into the UN Consolidated Appeals Process and for the World Bank and regional development banks and financial institutions to make States Parties aware of opportunities for loans and grants.

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

ENDNOTES

- Where National Mine Action Standards do not exist, refer to International Mine Action Standards (IMAS), http://www.mineactionstandards.org/imas.htm
- ²¹ A PBA is based on a common assessment of needs and a commonly agreed strategy to meet those needs. It also incorporates common plans for monitoring and evaluation to enable stakeholders to monitor progress toward the objectives outlined in the strategy.
- For more information on measuring success and performance targets or indicators, see GICHD and UNDP. Socio-Economic Approaches to Mine Action: An Operational Handbook. May 2002, Chapter 6. http://www.undp.org/cpr/documents/mine_action/training/Socio-Economic_Approaches_to_Mine_Action.pdf
- 23 GICHD and UNDP. Socio-Economic Approaches to Mine Action: An Operational Handbook. May 2002. http://www.undp.org/cpr/documents/mine_action/training/Socio-Economic_Approaches_to_Mine_Action.pdf
- Ted Paterson, Evaluation Workshop, GICHD, 24-27 February 2004; Ted Paterson, Evaluating Mine Action Workshop, IPDET and GICHD, 2-6 March, Bangkok, 2009, http://www.gichd.org/operational-assistance-research/evaluations/ipdet-workshops/ipdet-workshop-2009/
- For definitions of relevance, efficiency, effectiveness, sustainability, impact appropriateness, coverage, coherence and connectedness, see: OECD Development Assistance Committee. Guidance for Evaluating Humanitarian Assistance in Complex Emergencies. Paris, 1999, http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/9/50/2667294.pdf
- See IMAS 14.10, Guide for the evaluation of mine action interventions, http://www.mineactionstandards.org/IMAS_archive/Final/IMAS%2014.10%20Guide %20for%20the%20evaluation%20of%20mine%20action%20interventions%20(Fir st%20Edition).pdf
- UNDP, Mainstreaming mine action into development. http://www.undp.org/bcpr/documents/mine_action/development/UNDP _Brochure_B_-_Mainstreaming_Recommendations.pdf
- UNDP, Mainstreaming mine action into development. http://www.undp.org/bcpr/documents/mine_action/development/UNDP_Brochure_B__ _Mainstreaming_Recommendations.pdf
- GICHD, A Guide to Socio-Economic Approaches to Mine Action Planning and Management, Geneva, 2004. http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/ pdf/publications/Guide_Socio_Economic_Approaches.pdf
- ³⁰ Cambodian Mine Action and Victim Assistance Authority, Policy Guidelines and Operational Guidelines on Socio-economic Management of Mine Clearance Operations, First amendment, November 2006
- Starles Downs, Increasing the Impact of Mine Action Surveys, Journal of Mine Action, Winter 2006. http://maic.jmu.edu/journal/10.2/notes/downs/downs.htm
- UNICEF. Community Mine Action Liaison, IMAS Mine Risk Education Best Practice Guidebook 6, November 2005, p.21. http://www.mineaction.org/downloads/1/6%20-%20Community%20Mine%20Action%20Liaison.pdf
- In mine action, there is a tendency to use the world "impact" to describe the socioeconomic effects of contamination and mine action activities, (eg Post Conflict Impact Assessment – PCIA). However, development organisations tend to use "impact" only for

54

GUIDELINES

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

the long-term effects. To avoid confusion, we recommend using the term post-clearance assessment (PCA) rather than PCIA.

- Although post clearance assessments are an important component of quality management in mine action, currently no international mine action standards are in place.
- GICHD and UNDP. Socio-Economic Approaches to Mine Action: An Operational Handbook. May 2002. http://www.undp.org/cpr/documents/mine_action/training/Socio-Economic_Approaches_to_Mine_Action.pdf; For example, assessing why cleared land is not being used as intended may reveal that beneficiary communities on not have the skills, tools and/or resources required to effectively cultivate cleared land, or that communities are not using cleared land due to a lack of confidence in the clearance process. Mine action organisations can therefore contact and alert development partners to community needs, or investigate why communities lack confidence in the clearance process and take steps to address this.
- Pre-clearance assessments may not be feasible when responding to emergencies, and preor post-clearance assessments may not be warranted for small tasks.
- The MTEF provides a three- to five-year projection of government resource allocation across sectors and levels of government. It also sets sustainable expenditure limits for overall government spending and for each the sector programmes.
- 38 ibid.
- OECD. Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness; Ownership, harmonisation, Alignment, Results and Mutual Accountability, Paris, 2005. http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/ 11/41/34428351.pdf
- 40 AusAID. Midterm Review of NGO Integrated Mine Action Programs, Cambodia, April 2008.
- GIS or Geographic/al Information System captures, stores, analyzes, manages, and presents data that is linked to location. For more information, see Wikipedia: http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Geographic_information_system
- ⁴² Aneeza Pasha, "Humanitarian Impact Evaluation: Battlefield Area Clearance in South Lebanon", Journal of Mine Action, Issue 12.2, Winter 2008/2009, http://maic.jmu.edu/journal/12.2/feature/pasha/pasha.htm
- Hilde Wallacher (PRIO). Gender Mainstreaming in Mine Action a Critical Background Analysis. November 2007. http://www.prio.no/files/file50651_gender_mainstreaming_ in mine action nov 07 background report.pdf
- 44 UNMAS. Gender Guidelines for Mine Action Programmes. 2005. http://www.mineaction.org/downloads/Gender guidelines mine%20action.pdf
- See the Supplementary Reading List for additional information on gender and mine action. The Swiss Campaign to Ban Landmines (SCBL) is producing additional gender mainstreaming tools and resources to assist NMAAs, NMACs and other mine action and development practitioners. SCBL's gender and mine action portal can be accessed at: http://www.scbl-gender.ch/
- 46 National Committee for Demining and Rehabilitation (Jordan) in: SCBL. Gender and Landmines: from Concept to Practice, April 2008.
- Centre for International Cooperation and Security, The impact of armed violence on poverty and development, Bradford University, March 2005; Muggah, R. & P. Batchelor, "Development Held Hostage": Assessing the Effects of Small Arms on Human Development, UNDP, April 2002; UNDP Mine Action Team, Mainstreaming Mine Action into Development: Rationale and Recommendations, UNDP, December 2004.

FOR NATIONAL MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

- Ted Paterson, "Time to go MAD" in Stuart Maslen, Mine Action After Diana: Progress in the Struggle Against Landmines. University of Michigan Press, 2004.
- Due to the nature of the conflict, records of minefields were rarely kept, and those that exist are often inaccurate or out of date. As a result, it is not yet possible to quantify the extent of mine/ERW contamination and their full impact on the life of the affected population in a comprehensive manner.
- The SPLA/M reaffirmed the Geneva Call "Deed of Commitment" in August 2003 that the SPLA/M had signed on 04 October 2001. At the meantime, the GoS of ratified the Mine Ban Convention on 23 October 2003. GoS had signed the Convention in December 1997 but put on hold the ratification due to its security concerns.
- Convention on the Prohibition of the Use, Stockpiling, Production and Transfer of Anti-Personnel Mines and on Their Destruction http://www.apminebanconvention.org/fileadmin/pdf/mbc/text_status/Ottawa_Convention.org/fileadmin/pdf/Protocol V and amended Protocol II of the Convention on Certain Conventional Weapons, http://www.unog.ch/unog/website/disarmament.nsf/(httpPages)/BE5FA935703D981BC12571DE0062261C?OpenDocument&unid=4F0DEF093B4860B4C12571B0004B1B30;Convention on Cluster Munitions, http://www.clusterconvention.org/downloadablefiles/ccm77_english.pdf. See also Convention on the Rights of People with Disabilities, http://www.un.org/disabilities/documents/convention/convoptprot-e.pdf;
- Nairobi Action Plan, Ending the Suffering Caused by Anti-Personnel Mines: Nairobi Action Plan 2005-2009, http://www.mineaction.org/downloads/1/Nairobi_Action Plan%5B1%5D.pdf

GUIDELINES

FOR SUB-NATIONAL GOVERNMENTS

10.DEMONSTRATE OWNERSHIP OF THE MINE/ERW CONTAMINATION PROBLEM. DEVELOP SUSTAINABLE LOCAL CAPACITIES TO UNDERTAKE ALL ELEMENTS OF MINE ACTION OVER THE MEDIUM AND LONG-TERM

The developmental impact of mine/ERW contamination is often localised. Sub-national governments are in a good position to determine appropriate priorities. Where mine/ERW contamination impedes reconstruction and development at the sub-national level, reflect mine action as a cross-cutting issue in sub-national plans, programmes and budgets.

Allocate sufficient domestic human, financial and technical resources to support all elements of mine action at the sub-national level.

Maintain a comprehensive overview of all mine action operations taking place. This will help ensure an effective and efficient use of mine action capacity at the sub-national level.

Encourage mine action and development organisations to coordinate with and support sub-national government structures where possible. This will help to avoid duplication resulting from the establishment of parallel structures.

Box 12 | Integrating mine action in the Kukes Regional Development Initiative (KRDI), Albania

Albania's landmine contamination resulted from the Kosovo conflict in 1998-99; <u>unexploded ordnance (UXO)</u> from Serbian and NATO cluster munitions also contributed the country's ERW problem. The impacted area encompasses three districts in Kukes region, along the border with Kosovo. Even before the war, Kukes was the poorest and most marginalised region of Albania. It suffered from fifty years of isolation and then from a population exodus after the collapse of the communist government in the early 1990s. The Kosovo conflict severely damaged the region's already poor infrastructure.

The 2004 Kukes MDG Regional Development Strategy highlights landmine contamination and its impact on development in the region. In 2005, the EC-funded and UNDP-implemented Kukes Regional Development Initiative Community Infrastructure Project was initiated to improve livelihoods through the rehabilitation of community infrastructure and labour intensive projects. The three-year KRDI was based on the UNDP's Area Based Development Programme targeting poorer communities in Northern Albania. Communes affected by landmine and UXO contamination were prioritised. By the end of 2006, 19 infrastructure projects were complete, resulting in improvements in household incomes, education, health, employment and overall quality of life.⁵³

FOR SUB-NATIONAL GOVERNMENTS

11. WHEN PLANNING RECONSTRUCTION OR DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMMES, DO NOT AVOID CONTAMINATED AREAS AND COMMUNITIES. THERE ARE SOLUTIONS TO EXPLOSIVES CONTAMINATION

Use information about the nature of the contamination problem and its socio-economic impact to design and target reconstruction and <u>development</u> programmes.

Avoiding contaminated communities because of the perceived complications involved in accessing <u>mine action</u> services is short-sighted. Work with mine action organisations to assist contaminated communities. They have the skills, tools and information required to clear contaminated communities safely and efficiently.



GUIDELINES

FOR SUB-NATIONAL GOVERNMENTS

12.ENSURE MINE ACTION PROMOTES DEVELOPMENT IN AFFECTED AREAS AND COMMUNITIES

Ensure that, at the sub-national level, the <u>mine action</u> programme responds to the needs of all women, men, boys and girls impacted by explosives contamination.

- a. Prioritise affected communities for sub-national reconstruction and development initiatives
- Encourage mine action organisations to align their planning and priority-setting processes with sub-national development priorities and plans

For example, in Croatia, the mine action planning process is aligned with the <u>development</u> planning process at the county level. County authorities establish their regional clearance priorities based on county development plans and policy direction (criteria, budget, etc) from the Croatian Mine Action Centre (CROMAC).



- Require mine action and development organisations working in affected communities to conduct pre- and post-clearance assessments to ensure that:
 - > vulnerable communities are target beneficiaries of clearance
 - > cleared land is handed over quickly after clearance and is used as intended
 - vulnerable communities receive the assistance required to use land productively

Encourage mine action organisations to share reports on how mine action operators contribute to development outcomes at the sub-national level.

FOR SUB-NATIONAL GOVERNMENTS

13.STRENGTHEN INFORMATION SHARING AND COLLABORATION ACROSS SECTORS AND AMONG KEY ACTORS

Share information and work together with mine action and development organisations and authorities at the sub-national level. Where appropriate, lead coordination bodies to facilitate collaboration. Share information about mine action operations in a transparent and timely manner with the NMAA, NMAC and other key actors at the national level. Consult affected communities and regularly provide them with information about mine action operations.

ENDNOTES

GICHD. Evaluation of the Albanian Mine Action Programme. August 2007; Victims of Mines & Weapons Association in Kukes (VMA-Kukes). Beneficiary Assessment of the Kukes Regional Development Initiative (KRDI) project. April 2007

GUIDELINES

FOR CORE BUDGET AND PLANNING UNITS

14.WHEN PLANNING RECONSTRUCTION OR DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMMES, DO NOT AVOID CONTAMINATED AREAS AND COMMUNITIES. THERE ARE SOLUTIONS TO EXPLOSIVES CONTAMINATION

<u>Landmines</u> and other <u>explosive remnants of war</u> often impede post-conflict reconstruction and <u>development</u> efforts in many mine-affected countries. Obstructions include damaging infrastructure essential for economic development, increasing rebuilding costs, deterring public and private investment and preventing the use of assets vital to sustainable livelihoods.

Find out about the impact of mine/ERW contamination on development investments. Work with mine action officials to identify gaps where development programmes are avoiding contaminated areas due to lack of awareness and where lack of mine action support is holding back the progress of development programmes.

Reflect mine action services in reconstruction and development plans, programmes and budgets.

FOR CORE BUDGET AND PLANNING UNITS

- 15.ALLOCATE SUFFICIENT RESOURCES TO THE NATIONAL MINE ACTION PROGRAMME OVER ITS LIFESPAN, PAYING SPECIAL ATTENTION TO THE REDUCTION OF INTERNATIONAL SUPPORT
- Reflect mine action in the national budget, public investment programme and MTEF

If mine action officials and other relevant government officials communicate that mine action is a priority, allocate sufficient human, financial and technical resources to the national mine action programme.⁵⁴ Ensure the proper allocation of resources to contaminated areas and across various sectors.

Ensure infrastructure projects submitted to the national budget include allocations for mine action services. Encourage relevant government ministries to adopt a policy requiring that all multilateral <u>development</u> bank loans for infrastructure programmes include a budget allocation for mine/<u>ERW</u> clearance.

 Where external resources are required, emphasise the harmful impact of mine/ERW contamination in government-donor aid coordination forums

Consultative Group meetings and other government-donor aid coordination forums (eg technical working groups, sector working groups and roundtable meetings) represent concrete opportunities to raise the issue of mine/ERW contamination and obtain financial and/or technical support from donors. Identify development-funding opportunities for mine action and reflect mine action in funding proposals.

Box 13 | Consultative Groups and Development Cooperation Forums 55

When the World Bank takes a lead role in aid coordination for a developing country, it and the government establish a Consultative Group (CG). The Bank and government usually co-chair the CG. The CG comprises senior government, donor and international organisation officials who meet annually, or less frequently, with a smaller steering committee that meets more often. In addition to aid coordination, the CG plays an important role in resource mobilisation and government-donor policy dialogue.

In recent years, 'local ownership' has been emphasised to encourage recipient governments to play a more central role in the CG process and in determining the country's development agenda. Donors are also making efforts to coordinate their support for key sectors (leading in some cases to a <u>Sector Wide Approach</u> to planning and managing aid flow into a sectors⁵⁶). This has led to elaborate donor coordination frameworks, with numerous sector working groups feeding into the CG Steering Committee and the full CG. As government officials chair or cochair most of these groups, the government is, in appearance at least, more firmly in control.

In a number of countries, including Cambodia, CGs have evolved into Development Cooperation Forums. These are similar except for the reduction of the World Bank's role from co-chair to 57

62

GUIDELINES

FOR CORE BUDGET AND PLANNING UNITS

c. Encourage multilateral development banks to include the cost of mine/ERW clearance when financing reconstruction and development programmes in mine-affected areas

Multilateral development banks (MDBs) play an important role in countries emerging from conflict, often funding priority reconstruction programmes and new infrastructure investments. To ensure that reconstruction and development programmes supported by MDBs do not avoid mine-affected areas and communities, bank officials must recognise that contamination is a developmental constraint that is prioritised at the national, sub-national and/or sector levels.

Encourage MDB officials to include the costs of mine/<u>ERW</u> clearance and other <u>mine action</u> services in project financing plans. Assure them that mine action services can effectively address programme needs.⁵⁸ See Box 14, which describes the World Bank's experiences in Mozambique.



Box 14 | Demining in support of road and rail reconstruction: Lessons from Mozambique 59

Mozambique's National Administration for Roads (ANE) first encountered serious problems with landmine and UXO contamination during its Emergency Road Programme (1994-96). Under intense time pressure, it worked with the UNDP and donors to arrange stand-alone demining services that would not delay the work of the civil engineering firms selected as prime contractors for each rehabilitation project. These services were typically mechanical 'treatment' followed by survey and clearance. This proved extremely unsatisfactory as many explosive devices were missed, 60 causing the roadwork to stop, with the ANE bearing the cost of delays.

As a result, ANE has developed a system in which the prime contractor assumes complete responsibility for demining services. Tender documents make it clear that the bidders must include an accredited sub-contractor for demining. After the award of contract, the prime contractor is not allowed to mobilise the road works crews until the demining sub-contractor produces a certificate from the <u>national mine action authority</u>

FOR CORE BUDGET AND PLANNING UNITS

Box 14 contd. | Demining in support of road and rail reconstruction: Lessons from Mozambique

that the roads, bridges, gravel pits and other worksites relating to the roads rehabilitation project have been cleared. Subsequently, any missed device incidents are the responsibility of the prime contractor.

In contrast, the failure to integrate demining into reconstruction proved costly in the case of the Sena railway line. The line was a vital <u>development</u> initiative for Mozambique, which, among other things, opened access to the large Moatize coal mine. The World Bank financed (\$130 million) a major public-private project. Mozambique's state railway corporation (CFM) reconstructed the railway as a prelude to a major investment in rail stock by a consortium of Indian firms that would manage rail operations. MineTech (1998) and Ronco (2001) did the demining.

When the World Bank conducted its environmental impact studies relating to the upgrading of the Sena line, it advised that clearance would be required to at least 15 metres from the centre line and, ideally, to 25 metres. However, the Bank did not incorporate funds for demining into its loan or the financing plan for the project. CFM was to cover this cost. CFM sought assistance from the U.S. State Department, which provided funding to Ronco to conduct demining again. Unfortunately, once the rail reconstruction was completed, an employee of the Indian railway consortium was killed when he stepped on a landmine in a 'cleared' area. The Indian rail consortium demanded a re-survey of the rail line before resuming its work.

The World Bank's experience in mine action is largely confined to post-conflict 'priority reconstruction programmes'. Its first significant venture was in the countries that emerged following the break-up of the former Yugoslavia. The Bank supports medium to long-term sector reconstruction and development programmes, including in mine-affected countries and areas. For example, in 2005, World Bank officials approved a 60 million euro loan to the Croatian government for reconstruction in areas of special state concern, with approximately 17 million euro of the loan allocated to demining. World Bank support provided to the governments of Ethiopia and Afghanistan has included mine action services. See Box 15 for more detail on World Bank policy regarding support for mine action.

The Asian Development Bank (ADB) also recognises the negative developmental impact of explosives contamination in countries like Lao PDR and Afghanistan. For example, ADB support for a range of sectors in Lao PDR (eg agriculture, energy, transport and water supply and sanitation) includes UXO clearance and other services. A nine-year road improvement project in Xiengkhouang province (1997-2005) included funding for a UXO specialist and UXO quality assurance specialist. It also included support for survey, clearance and purchase of necessary equipment. ⁶²

GUIDELINES

FOR CORE BUDGET AND PLANNING UNITS

Box 15 | World Bank support for mine action 63

In 1997, the World Bank issued its Operational Guidelines for Financing Land Mine Clearance⁶⁴ that outlined the following key points in relation to its policy on financing mine/ERW clearance:

- "clearance must be an integral part of a <u>development project</u> or a prelude to a future development project or programme...[as]... It is this development activity that the Bank seeks to support, rather than land mine clearance per se"
- > "clearance activities must be justified on economic grounds" 65
- > "clearance in Bank-financed projects must be carried out under the responsibility of civilian authorities...[but this]...does not preclude collaboration with the military (eg, on maps, surveys, removal of mines)"

The Guidelines stress that the Bank does not engage in humanitarian work, and does not have capacity in the technical aspects of demining. It advises Bank staff to consult with UN agencies, the ICRC, <u>bilateral donors</u> and NGOs active in (or considering support to) <u>mine action</u> in the country. The guidelines limit mine action to the area of demining, as opposed to taking a wider view and including <u>survivor assistance</u>, <u>mine risk education</u> and stockpile destruction in loans. The guidelines also make it clear that the projects must be justified on economic grounds.⁶⁶

In November 2003, the Guidelines were supplemented by a Task Manager's Guide to Landmine Clearance Projects⁶⁷ that provides more extensive guidance and identifies areas in which the Bank considers it has a comparative advantage, including:

- > setting priorities based on socio-economic analysis
- > establishing effective national institutions to oversee a national mine action programme
- > developing procurement systems for survey and clearance work to enhance both safety and productivity
- > introducing sound economic and project management concepts
- > in conjunction with UNMAS, UNDP and donors, convening stakeholders to set the agenda for mine action in a country and to assist in resource mobilisation for reconstruction

One large project (Emergency Landmine Clearance project in Bosnia) has been formally evaluated by the Bank's Operations Evaluation Department as part of its 1997-98 multi-country assessment, which is published as The World Bank's Experience with Post-Conflict Reconstruction. The evaluation team concluded: "The decision to implement a self-standing project in an area in which the Bank did not have experience and where it does not have a comparative advantage was, in retrospect, a mistake...the <u>Landmines</u> Clearance Project was unanimously mentioned by interviewees as an example of a less successful exercise within the very successful first generation of reconstruction projects."

This negative evaluation may well have made Bank staff reluctant to get involved in demining projects, particularly in countries where many agencies are involved in mine action. However, the Bank has financed landmine survey and clearance work via infrastructure projects (principally road projects) in heavily contaminated countries where the Bank has an active lending programme (such as Cambodia). More recently, the researchers in the Bank's Economics of Conflict programme⁶⁹ have initiated work on the economics of landmine/ERW contamination and mine action.

FOR CORE BUDGET AND PLANNING UNITS

ENDNOTES

- It is not the role of core budget and planning units to determine whether mine action is a national, sub-national and/or sectoral priority. However, if others in the national or subnational government decide that it is, the core budget and planning units need to make financial provisions to sustain the mine action programme.
- Schiavo-Campo, S. Financing and Aid Arrangements in Post-Conflict Situations, CPR Working Paper No. 6, Conflict Prevention and Reconstruction Unit, The World Bank, Washington, 2003; Afghanistan State Building, Sustaining Growth, and Reducing Poverty: A Country Economic Report, Report No. 29551-AF, The World Bank, Washington, 2004; and Ted Paterson, unpublished research for GICHD, 2005.
- A SWAp should feature at least (i) a single needs assessment, accepted by the government and all donors and (ii) a single strategy, adopted by the government and supported by all the main donors to the sector. In some cases when a SWAp is in place, some donors will channel their funds through the government budget rather than financing distinct projects. Well functioning SWAps decrease the costs of managing the aid flowing to a sector, increase the effectiveness of that aid and enhance government capacities.
- See, for example, http://www.cdc-crdb.gov.kh/cdc/gdcc/eighth_objectives_procedures.htm
- United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) Mine Action Team, Mainstreaming Mine Action into Development: Rationale and Recommendations, UNDP, December 2004. http://www.undp.org/bcpr/documents/mine_action/development/UNDP_Brochure_B_-_Mainstreaming_Recommendations.pdf
- GICHD, A Review of Ten Years Assistance to Mine Action in Mozambique. Agencia de Informacau de Mocambique, 28 Sep 2006, Mozambique: Sena Line Declared Free of Land Mines.
- In some cases, the ANE suspects that roads contractors planted mines themselves in order to justify work stoppages (ie they were delayed for other reasons, so created a "missed device incident" to justify a work stoppage and shift the cost of the delay onto ANE).
- Croatian Mine Action Centre (CROMAC). Representatives of the World Bank visited CROMAC, 7 December 2005. http://www.hcr.hr/en/aktualnostCijela.asp?ID=81; Government of the Republic of Croatia. 2006 Humanitarian Demining Plan, January 2006. http://www.hcr.hr/pdf/humanitarian demining plan.pdf
- Asian Development Bank. Completion Report Lao People's Democratic Republic: Xieng Khouang Road Improvement Project, September 2006. http://www.adb.org/Documents/PCRs/LAO/27511-LAO-PCR.pdf
- Ted Paterson for UNDP on behalf of the Resource Mobilisation Contact Group, June 2004.
- World Bank, Operational Guidelines for Financing Landmine Clearance, 1998
- ⁶⁵ An exception to this rule is made for projects delivered as 'emergency recovery assistance'.
- Kristian Berg Harpviken & Jan Isaksen. Reclaiming the Fields of War: Mainstreaming Mine Action in Development. PRIO and UNDP, 2004. http://sel.isn.ch/serviceengine/FileContent?serviceID=47&fileid=BB3BE1B7-33E0-9F93-9A5F-C6DA217C67B6&Inc=en
- World Bank, Landmine Clearance Projects: Task Manager's Guide, 2003, http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTRANETSOCIALDEVELOPMENT/214578-1111661180807/20488066/WP10nov14.pdf. As well, a CD-ROM has been issued to support the Handbook. The CD contains the text of the Ottawa Convention, UN policies, IMAS, key reports, and samples of contracts, bid tender documents, etc.
- World Bank Operations Evaluation Department. Bosnia and Herzegovina Post-Conflict Reconstruction: Country Case Study Series, Washington D.C., 2000.
- The World Bank. The Economics of Conflict Programme. http://econ.worldbank.org/ WBSITE/EXTERNAL/EXTDEC/EXTRESEARCH/EXTPROGRAMS/EXTCONFLICT/0 ,/menuPK:477971~pagePK:64168176~piPK:64168140~theSitePK:477960,00.html

GUIDELINES

FOR SECTOR MINISTRIES AND STATUTORY BODIES

- 16.DEMONSTRATE OWNERSHIP OF THE MINE/ERW CONTAMINATION PROBLEM. DEVELOP SUSTAINABLE NATIONAL CAPACITIES TO UNDERTAKE ALL ELEMENTS OF MINE ACTION OVER THE MEDIUM AND LONG-TERM. SECTOR MINISTRIES AND STATUTORY BODIES ARE IN THE BEST POSITION TO UNDERSTAND HOW CONTAMINATION AFFECTS THEIR WORK PROGRAMMES
- Get information on the extent of mine/ERW contamination and its impact on planned work programmes

Find out about the extent of mine/<u>ERW</u> contamination and its impact on <u>development</u> investments and planned work programmes. Use this information to design sector development programmes and identify avoidance of contaminated areas.

Where there is a significant degree of explosives contamination, reflect explosives contamination and mine action as a cross-cutting issue in sector development plans, programmes and budgets.

 When planning reconstruction or development programmes, do not avoid contaminated areas and communities. There are solutions to explosives contamination

Discuss your work programme with mine action organisations to ensure contaminated communities are not bypassed. Avoiding contaminated communities because of the complications involved in obtaining mine action support is short-sighted. Inform mine action organisations of sector priorities and work in partnership to address mine/ERW contamination and its impacts. They have the skills, tools and information required to clear contaminated communities safely and efficiently.

If your agency has issued a specific policy or directive to ensure that there is no avoidance of contaminated areas, make sure your development partners are aware of this and work with you.

FOR SECTOR MINISTRIES AND STATUTORY BODIES

Box 16 | Avoiding the problem: Experiences from Mozambique

In 2005, a review of mine action in Mozambique for the period 1995-2005⁷⁰ revealed weak coordination between mine action and development actors. In theory, the National Demining Institute's (IND) Technical Council should provide a platform for solid working relations between the national mine action programme and relevant government departments. In addition to the Ministries of Planning and Finance and Foreign Affairs, the seven sector ministries represented on the Technical Council are the ministries of Defence, Interior, Public Works & Housing, Agriculture & Fisheries, Social Affairs, Labour and Health. Unfortunately, the review revealed little engagement between IND and other government units.

Officials responsible for irrigation within the Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development acknowledged the lack of information exchange with IND and mine/ERW operators. For example, when irrigation officials planned their annual work programmes, they obtained information from district officials regarding the presence of landmine contamination in a given district. They then dropped any contaminated communities from the work programme for small-scale irrigation. They did not check with IND or demining operators in the area whether the suspected contamination would interfere with an irrigation project. This dramatically reduced the development prospects of mine-affected communities.

GUIDELINES

FOR SECTOR MINISTRIES AND STATUTORY BODIES

17. WHEN PLANNING RECONSTRUCTION OR DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMMES, DO NOT AVOID CONTAMINATED AREAS AND COMMUNITIES. THERE ARE SOLUTIONS TO EXPLOSIVES CONTAMINATION

Avoiding contaminated communities because of the perceived complications involved in accessing mine action services is short-sighted. Discuss your work programme with mine action officials to ensure it does not avoid contaminated communities. Inform them of sector priorities and work in partnership with them to promote sector development programmes and assist contaminated communities. They have the skills, tools and information required to clear contaminated communities safely and efficiently.

If your agency has issued a specific policy or directive to ensure that contaminated areas are not avoided, make sure your development partners are aware of this and work with you.

GUIDELINES

FOR SECTOR MINISTRIES AND STATUTORY BODIES

18.WSHARE INFORMATION AND COLLABORATE WITH MINE ACTION AUTHORITIES

Participate in formal coordination bodies at the sector level and, where appropriate, national and sub-national levels to promote coordination among government authorities, mine/<u>ERW</u> operators and <u>development</u> organisations.

Encourage mine action officials to participate in relevant sector coordination groups (eg sector working groups), particularly for those sectors affected by explosives contamination.

ENDNOTES

⁷⁰ GICHD. A Review of Ten Years Assistance to the Mine Action Programme in Mozambique. Geneva, October 2005.

70

WHERE TO ACCESS ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Please see the supplementary reading list, organised thematically, for additional publications and websites related to Linking Mine Action and Development. The GICHD also has an LMAD portal (www.gichd.org/lmad) through which the guidelines can be accessed. For information about GICHD LMAD capacity development support, please email: lmad@gichd.org





Annual Budget Calendar A calendar indicating the key dates in the process of preparing and approving the budget. These typically include the date the budget circular is issued, the time period for discussing estimates with ministries and departments, the date the executive budget is submitted to the legislature, the legislative review including dates for budget hearings and the date the budget appropriations bill should be passed by the legislature. There may be other important steps in the process, which varies by country.⁷¹

Architecture of Mine Action The architecture of mine action is a framework that illustrates the main actors and arenas involved in mine action and the key linkages that should exist between the national mine action programme and key actors within the government, international and community arenas.

Battle Area Clearance (BAC) The term Battlefield refers to an area in which ERW, including UXO and AXO, have been found. This may include former battle areas, defensive positions and sites where air delivered or artillery munitions have been left, fired or dropped. BAC refers to the systematic and controlled clearance of hazardous areas where the hazards do not include mines.

Bilateral Donor Refers to donor countries that either channel resources directly to aid recipient countries, or through the financing of multilateral agencies. The majority of bilateral donors are members of the OECD's Development Assistance Committee (DAC), a forum to promote the volume and effectiveness of aid.

Budget Management In the context of managing government development efforts two processes are fundamental: budget management and development planning. The budget is the financial reflection of the government's annual work programme. It is also the authorisation for the government to spend funds for specific purposes and is the principal mechanism for the legislature to hold the executive to account. Budget management is a dynamic process, a complete budget cycle usually covering three years.⁷²

Common Country Assessment (CCA) A country-based process for reviewing and analysing the national development situation, and identifying challenges for the UN Agencies to address in a specific country. United Nations Country Teams prepare CCA documents in collaboration with national and international counterparts. The assessment takes into account national priorities, with a focus on the Millennium Development Goals and other commitments, goals and targets of the Millennium Declaration and international conferences, summits and conventions.

Community Liaison⁷⁵ Is the system and processes used to exchange information between national authorities, mine action organisations and communities, on the presence of mines and ERW and of their potential risk. It is typically carried out by all organisations conducting mine action operations, such as MRE-specific organisations, or MRE individuals and/or 'sub-units' within a mine action organisation. Community liaison

- enables communities to be informed when a demining activity is planned to take place, the nature and duration of the task and the exact locations of areas that have been marked or cleared
- enables communities to inform local authorities and mine action organisations on the location, extent and impact of contaminated areas
- > creates a vital reporting link to the programme planning staff
- > facilitates the development of appropriate and localised risk reduction strategies
- > ensures mine action projects address community needs and priorities

Conflict Sensitivity Conflict sensitivity implies the ability of humanitarian, development and peace-building stakeholders to understand the context in which they act and the impact of their actions on that context, in order to avoid negative outcomes and maximise positive ones.

Country Assistance Strategy A generic term, which refers to the document that outlines a planned programme of assistance provided by a donor to a specific country. It is usually set for a fixed time period, typically 3-4 years.

Development Development is often defined solely in terms of progress towards achieving greater income per person. However, for the purposes of these guidelines, development also comprises the need to ensure a high standard living (such as political freedom, the availability of "social goods", including education, health care for all citizens and freedom from hunger and premature death). It also requires the removal of all sources of "unfreedoms", such as poverty, tyranny, political repression, poor economic opportunities, social deprivation and poor infrastructure and public service delivery.⁷⁴

Development Assistance Committee (DAC) The DAC is one of the key forums in which the major bilateral donors work together to increase the effectiveness of their common efforts to support sustainable development. The DAC holds an annual High Level Meeting; participants are ministers or heads of aid agencies. The Development Co-operation Directorate (DCD), one of the OECD's dozen substantive directorates, supports the work of the DAC. Members of the DAC are expected to have certain common objectives concerning the conduct of their aid programmes.⁷⁵

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Disarmament, Demobilisation and Reintegration In a peacekeeping context, disarmament refers to the collection, control and disposal of small arms, ammunition, explosives and light and heavy weapons of combatants and often also of the civilian population. It includes the development of responsible arms management programs. Demobilisation is the process by which armed forces (government and/or opposition or factional forces) either downsize or completely disband, as part of a broader transformation from war to peace. Typically, demobilisation involves the assembly, quartering, disarmament, administration and discharge of former combatants, who may receive some form of compensation and other assistance to facilitate their reintegration to civilian life.⁷⁶

Explosive Ordnance Disposal (EOD) Involves the detection, identification, evaluation, render safe, recovery and disposal of explosive ordnance. EOD may occur as a routine part of mine clearance operations. Upon discovery of ERW, EOD disposes of ERW discovered outside hazardous areas (this may be a single item of ERW or a large number inside a specific area) or disposes of EO that has become hazardous by deterioration, damage or attempted destruction.

Explosive Remnants of War (ERW)⁷⁷ ERW include both unexploded ordnance (UXO) and abandoned explosive ordnance.

Food Security Refers to both physical and economic access by all people at all times to sufficient food that meets their dietary needs for a productive and healthy life. Household food security refers to adequate access to food of sufficient quality and quantity on the household level.

Fragile States States that are particularly vulnerable to internal and external shocks and domestic and international conflicts, and which cannot or will not deliver core functions to the majority of their people, including the poor. Many types of state can be classed as 'fragile'; for example, weak states, conflict areas, post-conflict environments and states that have strong capacity but are unresponsive to the international community and the needs of their citizens. Fragile states are not necessarily conflict zones.⁷⁸

Gender The different social and cultural roles, expectations and constraints placed upon men and women because of their sex. Sex identifies the biological difference between men and women whereas gender identifies the social relations between men and women.

Gender equality Refers to the equal rights, responsibilities and opportunities of men and women and implies that interests, priorities and needs of both are taken into consideration.

Gender-disaggregated data Where data and information is reported separately for each sex.

Gender mainstreaming Is the process for promoting and implementing gender equality. It involves assessing the implications for women and men of any planned action-including legislation, policies or programmes in all areas and at all levels. Gender mainstreaming is based on the recognition that all development activities have a gender dimension where men and women may not be treated or benefit equally.

Gender sensitive A gender sensitive approach to mine action takes into consideration the different impact landmines have on individuals based on gender. The ultimate aim of gender sensitive mine action is to conduct mine action that respects and is based on gender equality (see gender equality).

Humanitarian and development NGOs In this context, refers specifically to national and international non-governmental organisations (NGOs) operating in countries affected by landmines and other ERW. They are largely concerned with enabling poor and excluded people to access appropriate relief and achieve longer-term recovery; reducing risks and protecting people, especially the most vulnerable; promoting sustainable livelihoods as a long-term means of helping poor communities to help themselves.

Human Security⁷⁹ Focuses on the protection of individuals from acute threats and on empowering them to take charge of their own lives, rather than defending the physical and political integrity of states from external military threats, the traditional goal of national security.

Information Management System for Mine Action (IMSMA)⁸⁰ Refers to the United Nation's preferred information system for the management of critical data in UN-supported mine action programmes. IMSMA provides users with support for data collection, data storage, reporting, information analysis and project management activities.

Integrated Mine Action Refers to the integration of mine action's core pillars, in particular mine clearance, mine risk education, survivor assistance and advocacy. Integrated mine action is based on the recognition that coordinating mine/ERW clearance with MRE, community liaison and survivor assistance is a more effective approach for addressing the humanitarian and development needs of mine affected communities.

Integrated Mine Action and Development or Linking Mine Action and Development For the purposes of these guidelines, Integrated Mine Action and Development (or Linking Mine Action and Development) refers to the need to ensure that mine action is actively promoting socio-economic development and poverty reduction in contaminated areas and communities, particularly in contexts where contamination by landmines and ERW impede post-conflict reconstruction and development. It also involves development actors working with mine action organisations to actively promote the development of mine-affected communities and regions. This requires the integration of mine action in development policy and programming, and effective coordination between mine action and development actors at all levels (community, subnational, national and international).

International Mine Action Standards (IMAS) Refer to standards issued by the United Nations to guide the planning, implementation and management of mine action programmes. They have been developed to improve safety, quality and efficiently. The IMAS cover a wide range of issues from the accreditation of mine detection dogs to medical support for demining teams; from safety and occupational health to survey; from sampling of cleared land to the storage and transport of explosives. The following guiding principles underpin IMAS: national ownership; standards that protect those most at risk; national capacity; the maintenance and application of appropriate standards for mine action; consistency with international norms and standards; compliance with international conventions and treaties.

Landmines A landmine is an explosive device designed to destroy or damage vehicles, or to wound, kill or otherwise incapacitate people. Mines can be 'victim activated', meaning detonated by the action of their target (by being stepped on or by being struck, by direct pressure, tripwires, tilt rods or by some combination of these methods). Mines can also be 'command detonated', a process where a second person detonates a mine or improves an explosive device by some form of remote control. Mines can also be boobytrapped by using, for example, anti-handling devices, to make their removal more difficult. They may also detonate with the passage of time.⁸³

Landmine Impact Survey (LIS) Refers to an assessment of the socioeconomic impact caused by the actual or perceived presence of mines and ERW, in order to assist the planning and prioritisation of mine action programmes and projects.

Linking Mine Action and Development (LMAD) or Integrated Mine Action and Development See Integrated Mine Action and Development.

Livelihood⁸⁵ Comprises the capabilities, assets (including both material and social resources) and activities required for a means of living. A livelihood is

sustainable when it can cope with, and recover from, stresses and shocks; it must maintain or enhance its capabilities and assets both now and in the future, while not undermining the natural resource base. Household livelihood security entails access at all times to sufficient capacity, as described above, to gain a productive living.

Medium Term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) Provides the framework for allocating resources within which policy choices are made based on resource availability (medium term budget planning). An MTEF is part of the annual budget cycle. It consists of three elements: a resource envelope based on short-term imperatives of macro-economic stabilisation and broad policy priorities; an estimate of the current and medium-term cost of existing national programmes; an iterative process of decision-making, matching costs and new policy ideas with available resources over a three to five year period. ⁸⁶

Medium Term Fiscal Framework (MTFF) Is the first, necessary step towards an MTEF. It typically contains a statement of fiscal policy objectives and a set of integrated medium-term macroeconomic and fiscal targets and projections.

Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) The eight Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) range from halving extreme poverty to halting the spread of HIV/AIDS and providing universal primary education, all by the target date of 2015. They form a blueprint agreed to by all the world's countries and all the world's leading development institutions.

Mine Action The objective of mine action is to reduce the risk from landmines and ERW to a level where people can live safely. This means economic, social and health development can occur free from the constraints imposed by landmine and ERW contamination and the victims' needs can be addressed. Mine action comprises five complementary groups of activities or 'pillars':

- > mine risk education
- > demining, ie mine and ERW survey, mapping, marking and clearance
- > victim assistance, including rehabilitation and reintegration
- > stockpile destruction
- > advocacy against the use of anti-personnel mines

A number of other enabling activities are required to support these five components of mine action, including assessment and planning; the mobilisation and prioritisation of resources; information management; human skills; development and management training; quality management; the application of effective, appropriate and safe equipment.

79

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Mine Action Organisation Refers to any organisation (government, NGO, military or commercial entity) responsible for implementing mine action projects or tasks. The mine action organisation may be a prime contractor, subcontractor, consultant or agent.

Mine/ERW Operator Refers to any accredited organisation (government, NGO, military or commercial entity) responsible for implementing landmine/Explosive Remnants of War (ERW) clearance and/or mine risk education.

Mine Risk Education (MRE) Refers to educational activities that lessen the probability and/or severity of physical injury to people, property or the environment. The activities raise awareness and promote behaviour change through public-information campaigns, education and training and liaison with communities. Mine risk education can be achieved by physical measures such as clearance, fencing or marking, or through educating people about behavioural changes.⁸⁸

Multilateral Development Banks Refer to institutions that provide financial support and professional advice for economic and social development activities in developing countries. They specifically refer to the World Bank Group and regional development banks such as the Asian Development Bank, African Development Bank, the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, the Inter-American Development Bank and the Caribbean Development Bank.⁸⁹

National Mine Action Authority (NMAA) Refers to the government organ, typically an inter-ministerial body, in each mine-affected country charged with responsibility for policy, regulation and overall management of the national mine action programme. The NMAA plays a critical leadership role in implementing national mine action policy, ensuring international legal obligations are met and mobilising resources.⁹⁰

National Mine Action Centre (NMAC) Usually refers to the operational office of the National Mine Action Authority (NMAA). 11 It is responsible for the day-to-day coordination of the national mine action programme, and acts as the focal point for mine action activities on the ground. The exact division of responsibilities between the National Mine Action Authority (NMAA) and the NMAC varies from country to country. The Mine Action Centre typically carries out the policies of the NMAA. It coordinates the work of the various organisations and agencies (NGO, UN, bilateral agency or commercial contractor) conducting mine action operations, 22 carries out MRE training and conducts reconnaissance of hazardous areas. It also collects and centralises mine data and ensures they form part of a coherent

integrated programme that addresses priority needs in a rational and costeffective manner.95

National Mine Action Standards (NMAS) A National Mine Action Authority issues National Mine Action Standards for effective management of mine action in that country. Effective NMAS reflect the national mine/ERW contamination situation, the national response to that threat, the situation of mine/ERW survivors and long-term legislation enacted or planned to support a strategic response to the threat. While NMAS reflect the local context, they should also adhere to the guiding principles of IMAS: national ownership; standards that protect those most at risk; national capacity; the maintenance and application of appropriate standards for mine action; consistency with international norms and standards; compliance with international conventions and treaties.

Pillars of Mine Action See Mine Action

Post Clearance Assessment (PCA) Are surveys that generally seek to assess the effectiveness and efficiency of mine action planning and priority-setting processes. Their purpose is to enhance the productivity and technical efficiency of mine action and to monitor post-clearance land use. They ensure that clearance priority-setting processes are clear, transparent and carried out correctly; they can help to identify problems faced by communities in transforming the outputs of mine action (ie cleared land) into sustainable developmental outcomes.

Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper (PRSP) Describes a country's macroeconomic, structural and social policies and programs to promote growth and reduce poverty and associated external financing needs. Governments prepare PRSPs in consultation with civil society and development partners, including the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund (IMF).

Programme Based Approach (PBA) Refers to a Sector-Wide Approach (see SWAp) that deals with a thematic or cross-cutting issue (such as mine action) rather than one particular sector. There is a general agreement that PBAs should emphasise local ownership, a coherent programming framework and partnership agreements with other donors under domestic leadership.

Priority-setting In the context of mine action, priority-setting refers to the process for deciding which areas/mine-fields in a specific mine-affected country or area to clear first, given limited resources, time and capacity. There is no standard process or specific criteria for setting clearance priorities,

largely because each will differ according to country context, nature of contamination, national capacity and the stakeholders involved. Priority-setting also relates to survivor assistance, MRE, survey and stockpile destruction. Priority-setting is a critical part of managing a national mine action programme.

Sector Wide Approach (SWAps) A SWAp is a process in which funding for a particular sector (ie agriculture or education), whether internal or from donors, supports a single policy and expenditure programme. It is under government leadership and adopts common approaches across the sector. Efforts to strengthen government procedures for disbursement and accountability usually accompany it. A SWAp should ideally involve broad stakeholder consultation in the design of a coherent sector programme at micro, meso and macro levels, and strong coordination among donors and between donors and governments.⁹⁴

Security System Reform⁹⁵ Security system (or sector) reform aims to develop a secure environment based on development, rule of law, good governance and local ownership of security actors.

Sex (or gender) Disaggregated Data Sex disaggregated data refers to the practice of ordering statistical information or other data by sex. This differentiation of information is crucial to development programming in order to determine the gender impact of development activities.

Small arms and light weapons Light weapons is a generic term which is used to cover a range of weapons portable by man, animal or machine. Small arms is a sub-set of the category of light weapons which includes only those weapons that can be fired, maintained and supported by one person.

Socio-economic approaches to mine action Seek to ensure that the focus of mine action is not solely the achievement of outputs (eg demined land, mine aware people, etc) but rather the enhancement of the well-being of local households, communities and organisations.

Survivor assistance (Victim assistance) Refers to all aid, relief, comfort and support provided to survivors of mine/ERW-related accidents and their families. The purpose of the support is to reduce immediate and long-term medical and psychological implications of the trauma.

Unexploded Ordnance (UXO) Unexploded ordnance are explosive munitions that have been fired, thrown, dropped or launched but have failed to detonate as intended. UXO include artillery and mortar shells, fuses, grenades, large and small bombs and bombies, sub munitions, rockets and missiles, among others.

United Nations Agencies In the context of these guidelines, UN Agency specifically refers to the fourteen United Nations departments, programmes, funds and agencies involved in mine action to varying degrees, in accordance with their mandates, areas of expertise and comparative advantages. They are: the Department of Peacekeeping Operations (DPKO); the United Nations Mine Action Service (UNMAS); the Office of Disarmament Affairs (ODA); the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP); the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF); the United Nations Office of Project Services (UNOPS); the Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO); the Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA); the Office of the Special Advisor on Gender Issues (OSAGI); the Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR); the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR); the World Food Programme (WFP); the World Health Organization (WHO); the World Bank.⁹⁷

Whole of government Refers to public service agencies that work across portfolio boundaries to achieve a shared goal and an integrated government response to particular issues. This can also be described as joined-up government, connected government, policy coherence, networked government and horizontal management.

ENDNOTES

- International Monetary Fund. Manual on Fiscal Transparency, IMF, Washington DC, Glossary. 2007. http://www.imf.org/external/np/pp/2007/eng/101907m.pdf
- Paterson, Ted. (2007), PowerPoint Presentation, Mine Action & Development How mine-affected countries plan & manage their development efforts, GICHD, Geneva, GICHD and Department for International Development (UK). Understanding the politics of the budget: What drives change in the budget process? A DfID practice paper. August 2007
- UNMAS. IMAS 12.10 Planning for Mine Risk Education Programmes and Projects, December 2003, http://www.mineactionstandards.org/IMAS_archive/Amended/Amended3/IMAS%2012.10%20Planning%20for%20MRE%20programmes%20and%20projects%20_Edition%201.pdf
- Amartya Sen, Development as Freedom, Oxford, Oxford University Press, 1999.
- Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) website: http://www.oecd.org/about/0,2337,en_2649_33721_1_1_1_1_1,00.html
- UNDPKO, Disarmament, Demobilization and Reintegration of Ex-Combatants in a Peacekeeping Environment: Principles and Guidelines, 2000. http://www.un.org/Depts/dpko/lessons/DD&R.pdf
- The exact legal definition is given in article 2 of the Protocol on Explosive Remnants of War (Protocol V to the 1980 Convention), http://www.icrc.org/ihl.nsf/FULL/610?0penDocument.
- Department for International Development (UK), Millennium Development Goals Aid, Trade Growth & Global Partnership, February 2006; http://www.gsdrc.org/go/topic-guides/fragilestates

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

- ⁷⁹ See Human Security Gateway website: http://www.humansecuritygateway.info/index.php
- For more information about IMSMA, see: http://www.gichd.org/operational-assistance-research/information-management/imsma/overview/
- ⁸¹ Austcare, Integrated Mine Action: Lessons and Recommendations from Austcare's Program in Cambodia, January 2007. http://www.austcare.org.au/media/19715/cambodialmalessonsleamed.pdf
- For more information on IMAS, see: http://www.mineactionstandards.org/imas.htm
- 83 Adapted from the Landmine Safety Handbook.
- Survey Action Center is the coordination body for Landmine Impact Surveys. For more information, see: http://www.sac-na.org/surveys.html
- Bolis Sustainable Livelihoods Guidance Sheets. http://www.livelihoods.org/info/guidance_sheets_pdfs/section1.pdf, adapted from Chambers, R. and G. Conway (1992) Sustainable rural livelihoods: Practical concepts for the 21st century. IDS Discussion Paper 296. Brighton: IDS.
- Based on http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTPEAM/Resources/OPMMTEFReview.pdf, http://www.odi.org.uk/Publications/briefing/bp_june05_MTEF.pdf
- 87 http://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/
- For a general overview of MRE activities, and links to MRE providers, see: http://www.mineaction.org/overview.asp?o=17
- For more information on the multilateral development banks, see: http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/EXTABOUTUS/0,,contentMDK:20040614 ~menuPK:41699~pagePK:43912~piPK:44037~theSitePK:29708,00.html
- Geneva International Centre for Humanitarian Demining. A Guide to Mine Action and Explosive Remnants of War. Third Edition. April 2007. http://www.gichd.org/gichd-publications/index-guide-to-mine-action-and-explosive-remnants-of-war-2007/
- ⁹¹ IMAS 04.10. Glossary of mine action terms, definitions and abbreviations (Ed. 2), updated version, January 2008. http://www.mineactionstandards.org/IMAS_archive/Amended3/IMAS_04.10_Glossary_of_mine_action_terms_definitions_and_abbreviations_(Edition_2).pdf
- Geneva International Centre for Humanitarian Demining. A Guide to Mine Action and Explosive Remnants of War. Third Edition. April 2007. http://www.gichd.org/gichd-publications/index-guide-to-mine-action-and-explosive-remnants-of-war-2007/
- Eaton, R., C. Horwood, and N. Niland. The Development of Indigenous Mine Action Capacities

 Study Report, New York, UN Department of Humanitarian Affairs, 1988.
 http://www.reliefweb.int/ocha.ol/oub/landmine/study/index.html
- ⁹⁴ DFID, Policy Planning and Implementation Sector Wide Approaches (SWAps), ODI, http://www.odi.org.uk/Publications/kevsheets/red 7 swaps rev.pdf
- 95 See the Global Facilitation Network for Security System Reform, http://www.ssrnetwork.net /about/what is ss.php
- The exact legal definition is given in article 2 of the Protocol on Explosive Remnants of War (Protocol V to the 1980 Convention http://www.icrc.org/ihl.nsf/FULL/610?0penDocument
- Geneva International Centre for Humanitarian Demining. A Guide to Mine Action and Explosive Remnants of War. Third Edition. April 2007. http://www.gichd.org/gichd-publications/index-guide-to-mine-action-and-explosive-remnants-of-war-2007/





Aid effectiveness

Bayne, Sarah. Aid and conflict in Uganda, Saferworld, March 2007. http://www.saferworld.org.uk/images/pubdocs/Uganda_Bayne.pdf

Burall, Simon and Simon Maxwell with Alina Rocha Menocal. Reforming the international aid architecture: Options and ways forward. Overseas Development Institute, Working Paper 278, October 2006. http://www.odi.org.uk/Publications/working_papers/wp278.pdf

Canadian Council for International Cooperation. The Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness. Donor Commitments and Civil Society Critiques: A CCIC Backgrounder, May 2006.

http://ccic.ca/e/docs/002_aid_2006-05_paris_declaration_backgrounder.pdf

Department for International Development (UK), Government of Netherlands and ODI. Key Sheets. 7: Sector Wide Approaches. October 2001. http://www.odi.org.uk/Publications/keysheets/red_7_swaps_rev.pdf

Global Donor Platform for Rural Development. Formulating and Implementing Sector-Wide Approaches in Agriculture and Rural Development: A Synthesis Report. November 2007.

http://www.donorplatform.org/component/option,com_docman/task,doc_details/gid,614/

IBON International. Primer on Development and Aid Effectiveness, Phillipines, 2007.

http://realityofaid.org/downloads/primer_on_aid_effectiveness.pdf

International Civil Society Steering Group for the Accra High Level Forum. From Paris 2005 To Accra 2008: Will Aid Be More Accountable and Effective?, 16 January 2008.

 $http://betteraid.org/index.php?option=com_content\&task=view\&id=88\&Itemid=26$

Leader, Nicholas and Peter Colenso, Aid Instruments in Fragile States, UK Department For International Development, Working Paper 5 - January 2005. http://www.globalpolicy.org/socecon/develop/oda/2005/03fragile.pdf

Longley, Catherine; Ian Christoplos, Tom Slaymaker and Silvestro Meseka. Rural Recovery in Fragile States: Agricultural support in countries emerging from conflict. ODI, Natural Resource Perspectives 105, February 2007. http://www.odi.org.uk/Publications/nrp/nrp105.pdf

OECD DAC. Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness. March 2005. http://www.oecd.org/document/18/0,3343,en_2649_3236398_35401554_1_1_1_1,00.html

Aid Effectiveness: Three Good Reasons Why the Paris Declaration Will Make a Difference. 2005 Development Cooperation Report, Volume 7, Nov. 1. http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/53/30/36364587.pdf

Fragile States: Policy Commitment and Principles for Good International Engagement in Fragile States and Institutions. March 2007. http://www.oecd.org/document/46/0,3343,fr_2649_34863_35233262_1_1_1_1_100.html

Welle, Katharina; Alan Nicol and Frank van Steenbergen. Why is Harmonisation and Alignment difficult for donors? Lessons from the water sector. ODI Project Briefing, No 6. January 2008.

http://www.odi.org.uk/publications/briefing/project-briefings/pb6-0801-water-harmonisation.pdf

Useful websites | Aid effectiveness

Forum on the Future of Aid http://www.futureofaid.net

Aid Harmonisation and Alignment http://www.aidharmonization.org/

BetterAid http://betteraid.org/

Armed violence reduction and development

Centre for International Cooperation and Security, The impact of armed violence on poverty and development, Bradford University, March 2005. http://www.brad.ac.uk/acad/cics/publications/AVPI/poverty/AVPI_Synthesis_Report.pdf

de Coning, Cedric. Coherence and Coordination in United Nations Peacebuilding and Integrated Missions – A Norwegian Perspective. NUPI, 2007. http://english.nupi.no/publikasjoner/boeker_rapporter/2007/coherence_and_coordination_in_united_nations_peacebuilding_and_integrated_missions

Geneva Declaration on Armed Violence and Development, June 2006. http://www.genevadeclaration.org

Muggah, Robert and Peter Batchelor, "Development Held Hostage": Assessing the Effects of Small Arms on Human Development, UNDP, April 2002. http://www.undp.org/cpr/documents/sa_control/development_held_hostage.pdf

UNIDIR. Scoping Study on Mine Action and Small Arms Control Within the Framework of Armed Violence and Poverty Reduction. September 2006. http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/ma_development/chronology/UNIDI R-Scoping-Study-September-2006.pdf

US Agency for International Development (USAID). Community-Based Development in Conflict Affected Areas. An Introductory Guide for Programming. 2007.

http://www.usaid.gov/our_work/cross-cutting_programs/conflict/publications/docs/CMM_CBD_Guide_May_2007.pdf

Capacity development

Blagescu, Monica and John Young, Capacity Development for Policy Advocacy: Current thinking and approaches among agencies supporting Civil Society Organisations. Overseas Development Institute, UK, Working Paper 260. January 2006.

http://www.odi.org.uk/Publications/working_papers/wp260.pdf

Brinkerhoff, Derick W. Capacity Development in Fragile States, Discussion Paper 58, RTI International, Washington DC, in cooperation with the European Centre for Development Policy Management. Maastricht, The Netherlands, May 2007

 $http://www.ecdpm.org/Web_ECDPM/Web/Content/Navigation.nsf/index\ 2?readform&http://www.ecdpm.org/Web_ECDPM/Web/Content/Content.nsf/80ba021853007405c1256c790053145c/c56df8709c249bbcc125730600\ 28676c?OpenDocument$

Eaton, Robert; C. Horwood, and N. Niland. The Development of Indigenous Mine Action Capacities – Study Report, New York, UN Department of Humanitarian Affairs, 1988.

http://www.reliefweb.int/ocha_ol/pub/landmine/study/index.html

Kjellman, Kjell Erling and Kristian Berg Harpviken. Meeting the Challenge, National Ownership in Mine Action. PRIO Policy Brief 1/2006. http://www.prio.no/files/file48397_policy_brief_1-2006_word.pdf? PHPSESSID=b8a3+ac

Taylor, Peter and Peter Clarke, Capacity for a change. Document based on outcomes of the 'Capacity Collective' workshop, Dunford House, 25-27 September, 2007, IDS, Sussex, January 2008.

http://content.undp.org/go/cms-service/stream/asset/?asset_id=1531706; Additional material available at:

 $\label{lem:http://www.ids.ac.uk/UserFiles/File/Participation_publications/CapacityFor AChange_AdditionalMaterial.pdf$

UNDG, A Template of UN System Capacity Development Tools www.undg.org/.../A%20%20TEMPLATE%20OF%20UN%20SYSTEM% 20CAPACITY%20DEVELOPMENT%20TOOLS%20FINAL%20FEB R07.doc

Useful websites | Capacity development

The Association for Progressive Communications, Capacity Building http://old.apc.org/english/capacity/index.shtml

European Centre for Development Policies, Capacity.org http://www.capacity.org/

OneWorld.net, Capacity Building Guide http://uk.oneworld.net/guides/capacitybuilding

UNDP, Capacity Development Resources & Tools http://www.capacity.undp.org/index.cfm?module=ActiveWeb&page=Web Page&s=resources

Community participation in mine action

Bottomley, Ruth. Spontaneous Demining Initiatives; Mine Clearance by Villagers in Rural Cambodia. Final Study Report. Handicap International – Belgium, January 2001

http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/ma_development/database/Spontaneous_Demining_Initiatives_Cambodia.pdf

Community Participation in Mine Action: A Review and Conceptual Framework, Norwegian Peoples Aid, 2006.

http://www.npaid.org/filestore/comm_part_ma.pdf

Community participation in Mine Action: Study in Kwanza Sul Province, Angola, NPA, April 2006.

http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/ma_development/database/Community_Participation_MA_Study_Kwanza_Sul_Province_Angola.pdf

Crossing the Divide. Landmines, Villagers and Organisations, PRIO Report 1/2003, PRIO (International Peace Research Institute, Oslo), Oslo 2003. http://www.prio.no/page/preview/preview/9429/40814.html

Leighton, Rupert. (Mines Advisory Group), "Developing Alternatives: The Locality Demining Model in Cambodia", The Journal of Mine Action, Issue 9.2, February 2006.

http://maic.jmu.edu/JOURNAL/9.2/focus/leighton/leighton.htm

Mines Advisory Group. Community Liaison and the Mines Advisory Group, August 2007.

Moyes, Richard. Deliberate handling & use of live ordnance in Cambodia. For HI-Belgium, MAG and NPA, 2004.

http://www.npaid.org/www/English/Organization/External_offices_online/Asia_and_the_Middle_East/Region_South_East_Asia_-_Cambodia/NPA_In_South_East_Asia/Documents_+_Publications/filestore/Tampering-deliberatehandlingofliveordnanceinCambodia.pdf

Skara, Bernt A. Risky business or constructive assistance? Community engagement in humanitarian mine action. Third World Quarterly, Vol 24, No 5, pp 839–853, 2003.

http://www.informaworld.com/smpp/content~content=a714039115~db=all~order=page

UNICEF. Community Mine Action Liaison, IMAS Mine Risk Education Best Practice Guidebook 6, November 2005, p.21.

http://www.mineaction.org/downloads/1/6%20-%20Community%20 Mine%20Action%20Liaison.pdf

Development planning

Department for International Development (UK). Understanding the politics of the budget: What drives change in the budget process? A DfID practice paper. August 2007.

http://www.dfid.gov.uk/pubs/files/politics-of-the-budget.pdf

de Renzio, Paolo; Vitus Azeem and Vivek Ramkumar. Budget Monitoring as an Advocacy Tool: Lessons from Civil Society Budget Analysis and Advocacy Initiatives. Uganda Debt Network, April 2006.

http://www.internationalbudget.org/Uganda-UDN.pdf

SUPPLEMENTARY READING LIST

Handicap International and Christoffel-Blindenmission. Making PRSP Inclusive. January 2006.

http://www.handicap-international.de/images/pdfs_multimedia/prsp_manual_eng_1.pdf

Hodges, Tony and Roberto Tibana. Political Economy of the Budget in Mozambique. 12 December 2004.

http://www.dfid.gov.uk/Pubs/files/political-economy-mozambique.pdf

International Monetary Fund. Factsheet - Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers (PRSP). September 2005. IMF PRSP pages (Including all PRSP country documents) http://www.imf.org/external/np/prsp/prsp.asp

Isaksen, Jan; Inge Amundsen, Arne Wiig with Cesaltina Abreu. Budget, State and People Budget Process, Civil Society and Transparency in Angola. Chr. Michelsen Institute. Norway, 2007.

http://www.cmi.no/publications/file/?2706=budget-state-and-people-budget-process

Overseas Development Institute (ODI). Good Practice Guidance Note. Implementing a Medium-Term Perspective to Budgeting in the Context of National Poverty Reduction Strategies

http://www.odi.org.uk/PPPG/cape/publications/MTEF%20Good%20Practice%20Guidance%20Note%200.3.pdf

Oxfam. Influencing Poverty Reduction Strategies: A Guide http://www.oxfam.org.uk/what_we_do/issues/democracy_rights/downloads/prsp_guide.pdf

Planning and Budgeting: Linking Policy, Planning, and Budgeting. A Background Paper. Third International Roundtable on Managing for Development Results. Hanoi, Vietnam. 5-8 February 2007 http://www.mfdr.org/rt3/Glance/Documents/P&B_final.pdf

World Bank PRSP pages

http://www.worldbank.org/poverty/strategies/index.htm http://www.worldbank.org/poverty/strategies/sourcons.htm

Gender and mine action

AusAID, Guide to Gender and Development. http://www.ausaid.gov.au/publications/pdf/guidetogenderanddevelopment.pdf

Hilde Wallacher (PRIO). Gender Mainstreaming in Mine Action – a Critical Background Analysis. November 2007.

 $http://www.prio.no/files/file50651_gender_mainstreaming_in_mine_action_nov_07_background_report.pdf$

Moser, Caroline, An Introduction to Gender Audit Methodology: Its design and Implementation in DFID Malawi, Overseas Development Institute, 2005. http://www.brookings.edu/views/papers/200505moser.pdf

UNMAS. Gender Guidelines for Mine Action Programmes. 2005. http://www.mineaction.org/downloads/Gender_guidelines_mine%20action.pdf

Swiss Campaign to Ban Landmines (SCBL). Gender and Landmines – from Concept to Practice. May 2008.

http://www.scbl-gender.ch/uploads/media/SCBL_-_Gender___ Landmines_29_April_FINAL.pdf

Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC), Gender Handbook in Humanitarian Action. Women, Girls, Boys and Men - Different Needs, Equal Opportunities. 2006.

http://ochaonline.un.org/AboutOCHA/GenderEquality/KeyDocuments/IASCGenderHandbook/tabid/1384/Default.aspx

Gender Perspectives of Landmines: How and why are gender perspectives relevant to reducing the scourge of landmines? Briefing Note 5. Prepared for the United Nations Department for Disarmament Affairs. In collaboration with the Office of the Special Adviser on Gender Issues and the Advancement of Women, March 2001.

http://disarmament.un.org/gender/note5.pdf

Livelihoods and development

Department for International Development (UK). Sustainable Livelihoods Guidance Sheets,

http://www.livelihoods.org/info/info_guidancesheets.html

Electronic Development Information Service (ELDIS) website for development policy, practice and research: http://www.eldis.org

Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO). Access to rural land and land administration after violent conflicts. FAO Land Tenure Series, 2005. http://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/008/y9354e/y9354e00.pdf

International Rescue Committee. Lessons Learned on Community Driven Reconstruction. Post-Conflict Development Initiative, Revised Draft, February 2007.

http://www.theirc.org/what/the_postconflict_development_initiative.html

International Rescue Committee. IRC's Approach to Community-Driven Reconstruction. A basic primer for first generation programming. Designed for contextual adaptation, Version 2, April 2007.

http://www.theirc.org/resources/IRC-CDR-Manual-FINAL.pdf

Jaspars, Susanne; Sorcha O'Callaghan and Elizabeth Stites. Linking livelihoods and protection: A preliminary analysis based on a review of the literature and agency practice. ODI and Humanitarian Practice Group. HPG Working Paper, December 2007.

http://www.odi.org.uk/hpg/papers/wpprotectionlivelihoods.pdf

Useful websites | Livelihoods

Food and Agriculture Organisation and European Union. Food Security Information and Action – Livelihoods Assessment and Analysis e-learning materials. http://www.foodsec.org/DL/dlintro_en.asp

Livelihoods connect http://www.livelihoods.org/

Parrott N., Hebinck P., Westendorp A., Online course on livelihoods http://www.livelihood.wur.nl

Overseas development Institute, Linking livelihoods and protection http://www.odi.org.uk/hpg/protection_livelihoods.html

Mine action

GICHD, A Guide to Mine Action and Explosive Remnants of War, Geneva, 2007.

http://www.gichd.org/gichd-publications/guide-to-mine-action-and-explosive-remnants-of-war/

United Nations Mine Action Centre, E- MINE Electronic Mine Information Network

http://www.mineaction.org/section.asp?s=what_is_mine_action http://www.e-mine.org/

Mine action and peace-building, reconstruction and development

Brinkert, Kerry. Paving the bridge between disarmament and development: resources generated by the Anti-Personnel Mine Ban Convention. Disarmament Forum. UNIDIR, 2003.

http://www.unidir.ch/pdf/articles/pdf-art1957.pdf

Bryden, Alan. Chapter 8, "Optimising Mine Action Policies and Practice" in DCAF, Security Governance in Post-Conflict and Peace Building, Yearbook 3, 2005.

http://se2.dcaf.ch/serviceengine/FileContent?serviceID=DCAF&fileid=47 D35713-F97A-DEBB-D1B6-829E5459ECBB&lng=en

Campbell, Sally. Integrated Mine Action in Cambodia, Journal of Mine Action, 2006.

http://maic.jmu.edu/Journal/9.2/feature/campbell/campbell.htm

Campbell Thorpe, Sally. Integrated Mine Action: Lessons and Recommendations from Austcare's Program in Cambodia, Austcare, January 2007. http://www.austcare.org.au/media/19715/cambodialmalessonslearned.pdf

DFID, Understanding and Developing Security Sector Reform. http://www.dfid.gov.uk/Pubs/files/supportingsecurity.pdf

Fafo AIS, Landmine Action and PRIO. Policy Brief. Mine Action and Peacebuilding: Exploring the Agenda, 2003. http://www.prio.no/files/file42371_policy_brief_fafolmaprio.pdf

Fruchet, Patrick. Mine Action in Support of Peace: An Emerging Issue. GICHD, 2006.

Fusato Massimo, Disarmament Demobilization and Reintegration of Ex-Combatants - Knowledge Base Essay, July 2003. http://www.beyondintractability.org/essay/demobilization/

Geneva International Centre for Humanitarian Demining (GICHD)

A Guide to Mine Action and Explosive Remnants of War, Chapters 3, 4 and 5, GICHD, Geneva, 2007. http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/ publications/ Guide-to-MA-2007/Guide-to-Mine-Action-2007.pdf

Identifying Synergies between Mine Action and Small Arms and Light Weapons (SALW). Geneva, 2006. http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/ publications/MA and SALW Oct2006.pdf

A Guide to Socio-Economic Approaches to Mine Action Planning and Management. 2004. http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/publications/ Guide_Socio_Economic_Approaches.pdf

Global Facilitation Network for Security Sector Reform, A Beginner's Guide to Security Sector Reform, Birmingham, 2007.

http://www.ssrnetwork.net/documents/GFN-SSR_A_Beginners_ Guide_to_SSR_v2.pdf

Grayson, Judy. Mine Action and Development: Merging Strategies, UNIDIR, 2003.

http://www.unidir.org/pdf/articles/pdf-art1954.pdf

Harpviken, Kristian Berg and Jan Isaksen. Reclaiming the Fields of War: Mainstreaming Mine Action in Development. PRIO and UNDP, 2004. http://www.prio.no/page/Publication_details/Publication_detail_channel/9 429/46097.html

Heiner Hänggi and Theodor H. Winkler, Challenges of Security Sector Governance, DCAF & LIT Verlag, 2003.

http://www.dcaf.ch/publications/kms/details.cfm?lng=en&id=20461&nav1=4

International Peace Research Institute (PRIO). Maximizing the Impact -Tailoring Mine Action to Development Needs, Oslo, 2005. http://www.prio.no/files/file47211 amac report 5-2005 final.pdf

Mine Action Programmes from a development-oriented point of view: Bad Honnef Framework

http://www.icbl.org/lm/2000/appendices/bad_honnef.html

Morel, Marc-Antoine. Integrating Small Arms Measures into National Development Strategies. Lessons Learned from UNDP Small Arms Programming. Integrating Small Arms Measures into Development Programmes - International Workshop, Oslo, 30 November – 1 December 2006. http://www.prio.no/projects/a25cost/files/Oslo%20international%20works

hop%20final%20report%20(covers%20&%20text).pdf

OECD, Security Sector Reform and Governance - DAC Guidelines, 2005. http://www.oecd.org/document/33/0,2340,en_2649_34567_33800289_1_1_ 1 1,00.html

Paterson, Ted. "Time to go MAD" in Stuart Maslen, Mine Action After Diana: Progress in the Struggle Against Landmines. University of Michigan Press, 2004.

Paterson, Ted (GICHD)

Powerpoint Presentation, 2007, Mapping Development Actors, http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/ma_development/database/lmadwk-nov2007/LMAD-Wk-GICHD-Mapping-dev-actors-Nov2007.pdf

Powerpoint Presentation, Architecture of Mine Action – Visualizing the Links with Development, 2007. http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/ma_development/database/lmad-wk-nov2007/LMAD-Wk-GICHD-Architecture-Nov2007.pdf

Powerpoint Presentation, 2006, Action & Development – The Theory, http://www.mineaction.org/downloads/1/Mine%20Action%20&%20 Development%20Theory.ppt#1

Paterson, Ted and Eric Filippino. The Road to Mine Action and Development: The Life-Cycle Perspective of Mine Action, Journal of Mine Action, 2006. http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/publications/JMA_FEB06_Filippino_Paterson.pdf

Roughley, Anna. "Bridging Mine Action with Development", SOLIDAR news, September 2006.

http://www.sah.ch/data/9D1AF900/Solidar%20September%20Newsletter.pdf

Sekkenes, Sara M. Determining disarmament and development priorities the case of mine action. Disarmament Forum. UNIDIR, 2003. http://www.unidir.ch/pdf/articles/pdf-art1955.pdf

Small Arms Survey, Small Arms Survey 2007: Guns and the City, Geneva, 2007. http://www.smallarmssurvey.org/files/sas/publications/yearb2007.html

Stott, Noel; Kathryn Sturman and Jakkie Cilliers. The Landmine Factor in the Peacekeeping Debate in Africa. ISS Paper 80, November 2003. http://www.iss.co.za/index.php?link_id=29&slink_id=554&link_type=12&slink_type=12&tmpl_id=3

Strand, Arne; "Transforming Local Relationships: Reintegration of Combatants through Mine Action in Afghanistan in Preparing the Ground for Peace" in Kristian Berg Harpviken and Rebecca Roberts, Preparing the Ground for Peace: Mine Action in Support of Peace building, Chapter 4, PRIO, 2004. http://www.prio.no/files/preparing_the_grounds/MA_PB_Chapter_4.pdf

Thomas, Philippa. Poverty reduction and development in Cambodia: Enabling disabled people to play a role. Executive Summary. Disability Knowledge and Research, April 2005.

www.disabilitykar.net/docs/cambodia%20.do

Turcotte, Earl. Mine Action and Development, Journal of Mine Action, Issue 9.2, February 2006.

http://www.undp.ba/index.aspx?PID=8&RID=23

UNDP. Mainstreaming Mine Action into Development: Rationale and Recommendations, 2004.

http://www.undp.org/cpr/documents/mine_action/development/UNDP_Brochure_B_-_Mainstreaming_Recommendations.pdf

United Nations Disarmament Demobilization and Reintegration Resource Centre, IDDRS Framework.

http://www.unddr.org/iddrs/framework.php

World Bank, Landmine Contamination: A Development Imperative, Social Development Notes, 2004.

http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/TOPICS/EXTSOCIALDEVELOPMENT/EXTCPR/0,,contentMDK:20480311~pagePK:148956~piPK:216618~theSitePK:407740,00.html

World Bank, Landmine Clearance Projects: Task Manager's Guide, 2003. http://lnweb18.worldbank.org/ESSD/sdvext.nsf/67ByDocName/LandmineClearanceTaskManagersGuide/\$FILE/WP10webversion.pdf.

Useful websites | Mine action and peace-building, reconstruction and development

Cranfield University, Centre for Security Sector Management portal http://www.ssronline.org/

GICHD LMAD portal www.gichd.org/lmad

GICHD research and evaluation database

http://www.gichd.org/links-information-database/research-and-evaluation-reports/

United Nations Disarmament Demobilisation and Reintegration Resource Centre

http://www.unddr.org/

Mine action evaluations (which assessed developmental outcomes and linkages)

Byrd, William A. and Bjorn Gildestad, Study of the Socio-economic Impact of Mine Action in Afghanistan (SIMAA), December 2001. http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/ma_development/database/Study-SocioEco-Impact-of-Mines-in-Afghanistan-Gilestad-2001.pdf

GICHD

Evaluation of the Albanian Mine Action Programme. August 2007. http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/evaluations/database/Albania/Report-GICHD-AlbaniaEvaluation-aug2007.pdf

Evaluation of NPA's Humanitarian Mine Action Project and Review of Ethiopia's Mine Action Programme, December 2006.

http://www.gichd.org/links-information-database/research-and-evaluation-reports/country/linksdb/evaluations/evaluation-of-npas-humanitarian-mine-action-project-and-review-of-ethiopias-mine-action-programme/

Mid-term outcome evaluation for strengthening national capacity for mine action in Yemen – Phase II UNDP Project YEM/03/010/01/99, 2005. http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/evaluations/database/Yemen/Yemen-Final-June2005.pdf

A Review of Ten Years Assistance to the Mine Action Programme in Mozambique, October 2005. http://www.undp.org.mz/en/publications/publications/a_review_of_ten_years_assistance_to_the_mine_action_programme_in_mozambique

GICHD/NRI on behalf of YEMAC (2006), Departure of the Devil: Landmines and Livelihoods in Yemen, Geneva. http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/publications/Evaluation-Yemen-Nov2006.pdf

Isaksen, Jan; Ingrid Samset and Fernando Pacheco. Mid-Term Review of the Angola Programme of Norwegian People's Aid, CMI, 2006. http://www.cmi.no/publications/file/?2126=mid-term-review-of-the-angola-programme-of

Pound Barry; Adrienne Martin, A. Qadr and Abdul Mukred. 2006. Livelihood analysis of landmine affected communities in Yemen. Chatham: NRI, http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/ma_development/database/Livelihoods_in_Yemen.pdf

Mine action assessment, planning and priority setting processes

Downs, Charles. Increasing the Impact of Mine Action Surveys, Journal of Mine Action, Winter 2006.

http://maic.jmu.edu/journal/10.2/notes/downs/downs.htm

E-Mine website, List of LIS http://www.mineaction.org/docs.asp?dt=2

GICHD

A Guide to Mine Action and Explosive Remnants of War, Chapter 6, Geneva, 2007. http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/publications/Guide-to-MA-2007/Guide-to-Mine-Action-2007.pdf

A Study of the Role of Survey in Mine Action, GICHD, Geneva, 2006. http://www.gichd.ch/fileadmin/pdf/publications/Survey_in_MA_March 2006.pdf

Mine Action: Lessons and Challenges, GICHD, Geneva, 2005. http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/publications/Mine_Action_ Lessons_Nov2005.pdf

Socio-economic Approaches to Mine Action, Chapter 5, Geneva, 2002. http://www.gichd.ch/fileadmin/pdf/publications/Guide_Socio_Economic_Approaches.pdf

Lisica D. (2003) Bosnia and Herzegovina Mine Problem: Priority Setting, Article published in the Journal of Mine Action http://maic.jmu.edu/journal/7.2/focus/lisica/lisica.htm

Survey Action Centre website http://www.sac-na.org/

Post conflict land tenure

Daeudelin Jean, Land and Violence in Post Conflict Situation, Report Prepared for the North South Institute and the World Bank, Ottawa 2003. www.mlmupc.gov.kh/mlm/docout.php?ID=64

Mao Vanna et al., AIMAD Land Titling Pilot Project, Research on Post Clearance Land Titling, Austcare, Phnom Penh, February 2007. http://www.gichd.org/fileadmin/pdf/evaluations/database/Cambodia/Report-AIMAD-LMAD-Austcare-Feb2007.pdf

Overseas Development Institute (ODI), Humanitarian Policy Group Portal, http://www.odi.org.uk/hpg/land.html.

UNDP, Land Tenure Intervention for Peace Consolidation and Rural Development, 2005.

www.undp.org/.../workshop-1105/Day1/Paul_LT_Interventions_for_Peace_Consolidation_and_Rural_Development.ppt

Unruh, Jon, D., Post Conflict Land Tenure, Using a Sustainable Livelihoods Approach, FAO Livelihood Support Programme Working Paper 18, 2004. ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/008/j5415e/j5415e00.pdf

Useful websites | Post conflict land tenure

ICRC, website on Land – a key issue for humanitarian agencies during armed conflicts

http://www.icrc.org/web/eng/siteeng 0.nsf/html/economic-security-feature-150608? open document

SUPPLEMENTARY READING LIST

Survivor assistance

Bailey, Sheree. Landmine Victim Assistance in Integrated Mine Action in Cambodia, Standing Tall Australia, 2005.

http://www.standingtallaustralia.org/pdfs/VAMineActionCambodiaFinalReport.pdf

Campbell Thorpe, Sally. Landmine Victim Assistance in Integrated Mine Action: Recommendations, Australia and Standing Tall Australia, 2006. http://www.austrae.org.au/media/19712/stairrssguidelinesvictimassistance.pdf

Handicap International. Good Practices for the Economic Inclusion of People with Disabilities in Developing Countries Funding Mechanisms for Self-Employment. August 2006.

http://www.handicapinternational.org.uk//files/Good%20practices%20for%20the%20economic%20inclusion%20of%20people%20with%20disabilities%20in%20developing%20countries%20-%20Funding%20mechanisms%20for%20Self-Employment.pdf

Standing Tall Australia. 101 Great Ideas for the Socio-Economic Reintegration of Mine Survivors, 2005.

http://www.standingtallaustralia.org/pdfs/101GreatIdeas1.pdf

Victor, Jack; Steven Estey and Heather Burns Knierim. Guidelines for the Socio-economic Reintegration of Landmine Survivors. UNDP and World Rehabilitation Fund, 2003.

http://www.worldrehabfund.org/publications/GuidelinesForLandmine Survivors.pdf



The Geneva International Centre for Humanitarian Demining (GICHD) works for the elimination of anti-personnel mines and for the reduction of the humanitarian impact of other landmines and explosive remnants of war. To this end, the GICHD will, in partnership with others, provide operational assistance, create and disseminate knowledge, improve quality management and standards, and support instruments of international law, all aimed at increasing the performance and professionalism of mine action.

Linking mine action and development. Guidelines for policy and programme development: States Affected by Mines | ERW, Geneva, November 2009. ISBN 2-940369-27-5



These guidelines were written by Sharmala Naidoo, LMAD Project Manager, GICHD, with assistance from Ted Paterson, Head of Evaluation and Policy Research, and Ginevra Cucinotta, Programme Officer.



